506

STATE OF NEW MEXICO
ENERGY, MINERALS AND NATURAL RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

OIL CONSERVATION COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF THE HEARING CALLED BY )
THE OIL CONSERVATION COMMISSION FOR THE )
PURPOSE OF CONSIDERING: )
) CASE NO. 13,586
APPLICATION OF THE NEW MEXICO OIL )
CONSERVATION DIVISION FOR THE REPEAL )
OF EXISTING RULES 709, 710 AND 711 )
CONCERNING SURFACE WASTE MANAGEMENT )
AND THE ADOPTION OF NEW RULES GOVERNING )
SURFACE WASTE MANAGEMENT )

’ )

ORIGINAL

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

COMMISSTON HEARING

BEFORE: MARK E. FESMIRE, CHAIRMAN
JAMI BAILEY, COMMISSIONER
WILLIAM C. OLSON, COMMISSIONER

16 8 WY G2 MU 90

Volume III - May 4th, 2006

Santa Fe, New Mexico

This matter came on for hearing before the 0il
Conservation Commission, MARK E. FESMIRE, Chairman, on
April 20th-21st and May 4th, 2006, at the New Mexico
Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department, 1220
South Saint Francis Drive, Room 102, Santa Fe, New Mexico,

Steven T. Brenner, Certified Court Reporter No. 7 for the

State of New Mexico.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




Il 507
ll CUMULATIVE INDEZX
April 20th-21st, May 4th, 2006
ll Commission Hearing
CASE NO. 13,586
n PAGE
II APRIL 20th, 2006 (VOLUME I):
“ EXHIBITS 3
ﬂ APPEARANCES 4
OPENING STATEMENTS:
“ By Mr. Brooks 15
By Mr. Carr 21
“ By Dr. Neeper 28
APPLICANT'S WITNESSES:
THERESA DURAN-SAENZ (Legal assistant, NMOCD)
Direct Examination by Mr. Brooks 30
WAYNE PRICE (Environmental Bureau Chief, NMOCD)
Direct Examination by Mr. Brooks 37
Cross-Examination by Mr. Huffaker 144
Cross~Examination by Mr. Carr 161
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 187
Cross~Examination by Dr. Neeper 221
Examination by Commissioner Bailey 238
Examination by Commissioner Olson 249
REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 270

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




508
CUMULATTIVE INDEZX (Continued)
APRIL 21st, 2006 (VOLUME II):
CUMULATIVE INDEX OF EXHIBITS 275
APPEARANCES 276
APPLICANT'S WITNESSES (Continued):
WAYNE PRICE (Environmental Bureau Chief, NMOCD)
Examination (Continued)
by Commissioner Olson 280
Examination by Chairman Fesmire 289
Further Examination by Commissioner Bailey 291
Redirect Examination by Mr. Brooks 292
Recross-Examination by Mr. Huffaker 303
Recross-Examination by Mr. Carr 304
Recross-Examination by Dr. Neeper 305
Further Examination by Commissioner Olson 307
EDWIN E. MARTIN (Environmental engineer,
Environmental Bureau, NMOCD)
Direct Examination by Mr. Brooks 309
Cross-Examination by Mr. Huffaker 345
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 349
Cross-Examination by Mr. Carr 350
Cross-Examination by Dr. Neeper 353
Examination by Commissioner Bailey 359
Examination by Commissioner Olson 361
Examination by Chairman Fesmire 369
Redirect Examination by Mr. Brooks 370
Recross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 371
CARL J. CHAVEZ (Environmental engineer, NMOCD)
Direct Examination by Mr. Brooks 375
Cross-Examination by Mr. Huffaker 449
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 453
Cross-Examination by Dr. Neeper 457
Examination by Commissioner Bailey 463
Examination by Commissioner Olson 467
Examination by Chairman Fesmire 474
Redirect Examination by Mr. Brooks 477

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




509
CUMULATIVE INDEX (Continued)
CRI WITNESS:
I. KEITH GORDON (Engineer)
Direct Examination by Mr. Huffaker 481
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brooks 492
Examination by Commissioner Bailey 496
Examination by Chairman Fesmire 499
Redirect Examination by Mr. Huffaker 501
Recross-Examination by Mr. Brooks 501
REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 505
* % *
MAY 4th, 2006 (VOLUME III):
CUMULATIVE INDEX OF EXHIBITS 511
APPEARANCES 513
APPLICANT'S WITNESSES (Continued):
GLEN VON GONTEN (Senior hydrologist,
Environmental Bureau, NMOCD)
Direct Examination by Mr. Brooks 521
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 603
Cross-Examination by Dr. Neeper 658
Cross-Examination by Mr. Carr 670
Examination by Commissioner Bailey 677
Examination by Commissioner Olson 683
Examination by Chairman Fesmire 691
Redirect Examination by Mr. Brooks 694
Recross-Examnination by Mr. Carr 704
Recross-Examination by Mr. Hiser 707
OVERVIEW PRESENTATION OF AREAS OF DISAGREEMENT
BETWEEN INDUSTRY AND THE COMMISSION
By Mr. Hiser 712

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




510
CUMULATTIVE INDEKX (Continued)
INDUSTRY COMMITTEE WITNESSES:
DANIEL B. STEPHENS (Hydrogeologist)
Direct Examination by Mr. Hiser 721
Cross-Examination by Mr. Huffaker 815
REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 827

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




511
CUMULATIVE INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Division Identified Admitted
Tab 1 (empty) - -
Tab 2 37, 310, 375 -
Exhibit 1 (Tab 3) 15 -
Exhibit 2 (Tab 4) 15, 286 -
Exhibit 3 (Tab 5) 31 36
Exhibit 4 (Tab 6) 292 -
Exhibit 5 (Tab 6) - -
Exhibit 6 (Tab 7) 32 36
Exhibit 6-A (Tab 7) 34 36
Exhibit 7 (Tab 7) 34 36
Exhibit 8 (Tab 7) 35 36
Exhibit 9, Part 1 (Tab 8) 40 144
Exhibit 9, Part 2 (Tab 9) 41, 100 144
Exhibit 10 (Tab 10) 378 -
Exhibit 11 (Tab 11) 600 601
Exhibit 12 12, 321 345
0192A 519 520
0192B 519 520
0192C 519 520
0209 519 520

* %

CRI Identified Admitted
Exhibit C 482 483
Exhibit M1 489 491
Exhibit M2 489 491

*

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR

(505) 989-9317




512

CUMULATIVE INDEX OF EXHIBITS (Continued)

Industry Committee Identified Admitted
Exhibit 4 814 813, 815
Exhibit 5 814 813, 815
Exhibit 6 814 813, 815
Rebuttal exhibit 812 813

* % %

Additional submission by the Division, not offered or

admitted:
Identified
Redline of subsections G and H
summarizing changes testified to
by Mr. von Gonten 601

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




513

APPEARANCES

FOR THE COMMISSION:

CAROL LEACH
General Counsel
Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department
1220 South Saint Francis Drive
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505
and
CHERYL BADA
Assistant General Counsel
Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department
1220 South St. Francis Drive
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505

FOR THE DIVISION:

DAVID K. BROOKS, JR.

Assistant General Counsel

Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department
1220 South St. Francis Drive

Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505

FOR NEW MEXICO OIL AND GAS ASSOCIATION, IPANM, JOHN HENDRIX
CORPORATION, AND AN INDUSTRY COMMITTEE:

HOLLAND & HART, L.L.P., and CAMPBELL & CARR
110 N. Guadalupe, Suite 1

P.O. Box 2208

Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-2208

By: WILLIAM F. CARR

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




514

APPEARANCES (Continued)

FOR CONTROLLED RECOVERY, INC.:

HUFFAKER & MOFFETT, L.L.C.

155 Grant

Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501

P.0O. Box 1868

Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1868
By: GREGORY D. HUFFAKER, Jr.

FOR NEW MEXICO CITIZENS FOR CLEAN AIR AND WATER:

BELIN & SUGARMAN

618 Paseo de Peralta

Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501
By: STEVEN C. SUGARMAN

FOR YATES PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND AN INDUSTRY COMMITTEE:

JORDEN, BISCHOFF & HISER, P.L.C.
7272 E. Indian School Rd., Suite 205
Scottsdale, AZ 85251

By: ERIC L. HISER

ALSO PRESENT:

ALAN ALEXANDER
Burlington Resources 0il and Gas Company
Industry Committee

BRUCE BAIZEL
0il and Gas Accountability Project

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




515

ALSO PRESENT (Continued):

JOHN BARTLIT, PhD
New Mexico Citizens for Clean Air and Water

DAVID BAYS
Williams Field Service
Industry Committee

MARVIN BURROWS
Hendrix

CARL CHAVEZ
Environmental Engineer, OCD

THERESA DURAN-SAENZ
Legal Assistant, NMOCD

KARIN FOSTER
IPANM

DENNY FOUST
Aztec District Office (District 3), NMOCD

RAND FRENCH
Marbob Energy Corporation
Industry Committee

DAN GIRAND
Mack Energy Corporation

RANDY HICKS
Randy T. Hicks Consultants

SUZANNE P. HOLLAND
ConocoPhillips
Industry Committee

FRANK KRUGH
Marathon 0il Company
Industry Committee

LINK LACEWELL
BLM (Carlsbad)

(Continued...)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




516

ALSO PRESENT (Continued):

MARK LARSON
Larson & Associates
Midland, TX

BILL MARLEY
Gandy Marley

KENNETH R. MARSH
Controlled Recovery, Inc.

MARK E. MILLER
Daniel B. Stephens & Associates

RAY MOXLEY
Chevron

DONALD A. NEEPER, PhD
New Mexico Citizens for Clean Air and Water,

DENNIS NEWMAN
OXY
Industry Committee

LISA NORTON
Yates Petroleum Corporation

YOLANDA PEREZ
ConocoPhillips
Industry Committee

BRANDON POWELL
Aztec District Office (District 3), NMOCD

WAYNE PRICE
Environmental Bureau Chief, NMOCD

DEBORAH D. SELIGMAN
NMOGA

KELLIE SHELTON
Emerson

(Continued...)

Inc.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




517

ALSO PRESENT (Continued)

DANIEL B. STEPHENS, PhD
Daniel B. Stephens & Ass
Industry Committee

KERRY L. SUBLETTE
Industry Committee
FORREST B. (BEN) THOMAS,
Toxicologist

Industry Committee

GLEN VON GONTEN
Senior Hydrologist, OCD

oclates

Chemical engineer, environmental engineer

PhD

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR

(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

518

WHEREUPON, the following proceedings were had at
8:16 a.m.:

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: At this time we're going to go
ahead and reconvene the 0il Conservation Commission hearing
on Cause Number 13,586, in the matter of the Application of
the New Mexico 0il Conservation Division for repeal of
existing Rules 709, 710 and 711 concerning surface waste
management and adoption of new rules governing surface
waste management.

There are a couple of housekeeping matters we
have to address before we start.

First of all, is there anyone in the audience who
would like to make a comment on the proceeding before the
Commission before we begin?

Okay, seeing none, we'll continue to the next
item of business, which will be housekeeping.

We intend to go from this time until
approximately five o'clock this afternoon. We will have a
one~hour lunch break somewhere around noon where it's
convenient for the parties and we don't have an unnatural
break in the testimony. We alsc intend to have two 10-
minute breaks, evenly spaced, one in the morning and one in
the afternoon.

So at this time I believe, Mr. Brooks, you're

about to begin the direct examination of Mr. von Gonten?
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MR. BROOKS: Yes, Mr. Chairman, honorable
Commissioners.

Before we do that, Mr. von Gonten has prepared
some additional exhibits, three of which are based on some
additional investigation that we didn't get the results of
till after the filing deadline. The other one, being a
rebuttal exhibit, is something that came up in the first
two days. We have furnished these exhibits by fax to
opposing counsel, although we had some difficulty faxing
them and Mr. Hiser didn't actually receive them until this
morning. We have tendered them to him this morning,
however.

I want to know if there's going to be objection
to these exhibits and what the ruling is going to be, so
the witness can use them in testimony if they're admitted.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Carr?

MR. CARR: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Hiser?

MR. HISER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Huffaker?

MR. HUFFAKER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: And Mr. Sugarman?

DR. NEEPER: Our counsel can't be here this

morning due to conflicts. We have been served and we have

no objection.
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MR. BROOKS: Very good.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: No objection being noted, they
will be admitted.

MR. BROOKS: Okay, I have four copies left here
other than my own, which I will distribute among the
Commissioners up here, and the witness already has a copy
in his notebook.

MR. VON GONTEN: David, could you provide me a
copy of the official --

MR. BROOKS: What?

MR. VON GONTEN: My copy doesn't have everything.

MR. BROOKS: Oh, you don't have --

MR. VON GONTEN: No, no, no, I have a copy of the
actual -- the black binder. I don't have a complete set of
this, I just have my own notes, so in case they ask me any
questions --

MR. BROOKS: Okay, what do you need?

MR. VON GONTEN: Well, the -- material and
stuff -- that's fine, I'll get a copy =--

MR. BROOKS: Okay. May I approach the witness?

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: You may.

MR. BROOKS: With that, Mr. Chairman, honorable
Commissioners, the Division calls Glen von Gonten.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. von Gonten, you've been

previously sworn?
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MR. VON GONTEN: Yes, sir.
CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, you may begin.
GLEN VON GONTEN,
the witness herein, having been previously duly sworn upon
his oath, was examined and testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROOKS:

Q. Okay. Good morning, Mr. von Gonten.

A, Good morning.

Q. Would you state your name for the record, please?
A. My name is Glen von Gonten.

Q. And by whom are you employed -- You've given the

spelling of that to the court repbrter, have you not?
COURT REPORTER: (Nods)
Q. By whom are you employed?
A. I'm a senior hydrologist with the 0il

Conservation Division's Environmental Bureau.

Q. And are you here in the Santa Fe office?
A. I -- yes, sir.
Q. Would you briefly outline -- I know your résumé

is in the file books before us, but would you briefly
outline for the honorable Commissioners your background,
education, experience as a hydrologist?

A. Certainly. For the past 15 months I've been

working as a senior hydrologist with the Environmental
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Bureau in the 0il Conservation Division.

Before that I was a supervisor in the New Mexico
Environment Department's Hazardous Waste Bureau where I was
supervising the Department of Defense group working on
permitting a directive action at a number of Department of
Defense facilities and federal facilities. I worked there
for approximately five years.

Before that I was employed with the Department of
Environmental Quality with the Commonwealth of Virginia,
where I was in the RCRA permitting and corrective action
program.

And before that I was employed as a geologist in
a variety of positions, in a variety of companies in the
0oil and gas industry.

I have a bachelor's degree in geology and a
master's degree in geoclogy.

MR. BROOKS: Mr. Chairman, honorable
Commissioners, we submit the witness as an expert
hydrologist.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Is there any objection from
the parties?

MR. HUFFAKER: No objection?

MR. CARR: (Shakes head)

MR. HISER: (Shakes head)

DR. NEEPER: (Shakes head)

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
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CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Commission?
COMMISSIONER BAILEY: (Shakes head)
COMMISSIONER OLSON: (Shakes head)
CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: He will be so accepted.

Q.. (By Mr. Brooks) Very good. Mr. von Gonten, have
you been involved in the preparation or drafting of the
proposed Rule 537?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

Q. And in what particular area was your attention
most intensively directed?

A, I focused mostly on Rule 53.G, landfarms, and
small landfarms, 53.H.

Q. Very good. And have you prepared a presentation

explaining those portions of the Rule and the reasons
behind them?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

Q. Okay, using the procedure I've used with the
other witnesses, I will invite you to start your
presentation, and I will interrupt you with questions from
time to time but will allow you otherwise to make your own
presentation.

A. Very good. Shall we shut the door?

I'll be talking about Rule 53.G, which are the
specific requirements applicable to landfarms. 53.G

consists of eight paragraph -- or sections, and deals
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primarily with commercial and centralized landfarms.

I'l1l also be addressing 53.H, which are the
regulations specific to small landfarms.

53.G has eight paragraphs. The first is waste
acceptance criteria.

Second is background testing for WQCC 3103
sections A and B, constituents. WQCC Regulations 3103 are
the standards for groundwater of 10,000 TDS or less.

Section -- or paragraph (3), operation and waste
treatment;

Paragraph (4), treatment zone monitoring;

(5), vadose zone monitoring;

(6), treatment zone closure performance
standards;

(7), disposition of treated soils; and

(8), environmentally acceptable bioremediation
endpoint.

G. (1), waste acceptance criteria, is fairly
simple. Landfarms are to accept soils and drill cuttings
predominantly contaminated by petroleum hydrocarbons.
There is the additional requirement for G.(8), which is the
environmentally acceptable bioremediation endpoint, that
they accept contaminated soil that is less than 50,000
parts per million.

Q. Okay, I -- just for clarification, because it's

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
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not apparent on your slide, that does not apply if they are
using the closure standards in G.(6), versus the
bioremediation endpoint --

A, That's correct --

Q. -- correct?

A. -- there's a special requirement only for G. (8),
for the environmentally acceptable bioremediation endpoint
approach.

Q. Okay, continue.

A. As we have discussed in our previous testimony,
chlorides must be restricted to less than 1000 parts per
million, the soil must pass the paint filter test, and
there is a provision that operators may accept tankbottoms
on a case-by-case basis.

Q. Now would you explain why we did that?

A. Well, as -- the regulation states that -- we
contemplated that there were areas of New Mexico where
there were no nearby oil treatment plants. The proper
procedures for dealing with tankbottoms would be to send
the tankbottoms to an oil treatment plant so that any
recoverable hydrocarbons could be recovered and there would
be no waste, which of course is one of our statutory
obligations.

However, we recognize that there are places in

New Mexico where there just is no oil treatment plant
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nearby, or that it's at such a distance that you would
spend more energy on gasoline, tanking -- or trucking the
tankbottoms to be recovered that it wouldn't actually
benefit the environment.

Q. Okay, and one other question. One of the
commentors has taken issue with the use of the term
“predominantly contaminated by petroleum hydrocarbons".
Does that contemplate that there may be some other
contaminants in this material other than petroleum
hydrocarbons?

A. Yes, landfarms will be receiving oilfield waste
from a large number of spill sites. Those will include up-
and downstream -- upstream and downstream operations,
refineries, oilfield services companies such as chemical
supply companies and -- companies such as Schlumberger or
Halliburton, and they deal with a large number of exempt
wastes that might conceivably be spilled onto the ground
and mixed with hydrocarbons.

We intended that only soils that are
predominantly contaminated by hydrocarbons should be sent
to a landfarm, but we recognize that there will be cases
where the contamination will include a fair number of other
constituents.

Q. Now these would have to be either exempt or non-

exempt, non-hazardous, correct?
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A, That's correct.
Q. Because of our general --
A, That's correct, we can't accept any RCRA
hazardous waste.
Q. Okay. Is it still beneficial to landfarm some of

these wastes, even though they may have some nonremediable
constituents in them?

A. As long as they're predominantly contaminated by
hydrocarbons, we think that it is.

Q. Okay. And do we have other things written into
this Rule to protect against residual contamination from
other things that may be in these ~--

A. Yes, we have a closure performance standard for
the treatment zone that will address a fair number of other
constituents.

Q. Okay, continue.

A. So to summarize our goal on the waste acceptance
criteria, it was to accept oilfield waste which was
predominantly contaminated with hydrocarbons. This
includes waste from oilfield services such as refineries
and upstream and downstream operations, and we want to
exclude to the maximum extent practical chloride
contaminated cuttings.

G.(2) deals with the requirements for background

testing. Operators are required to establish background
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for TPH, BTEX and the entire suite of the 3103
constituents, sections A and B. As a constituent agency of
the Water Quality Control Commission, we chose section 3103
constituents. That's in 20.6.2 NMAC. We chose the
standards for groundwater of 10,000 milligrams per liter
TDS or less.

Q. Okay, that's 20.6.2.3103 NMAC, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And that's a regulation -- or a rule adopted by
the Water Quality Control Commission?

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay, continue.

A. G.(3) specifies the requirements for operations
and waste treatment, and it's based primarily on our 1997
guidelines. Each cell should be bermed to control run-on
and runoff of rainwater. There are some setback
restrictions: 100 feet for boundaries, property boundaries,
20 feet for pipelines. There's a requirement that
facilities apply the contaminated soil at eight-inch or
less lifts.

Later on I will discuss that we're going to
propose some changes to the language that would allow, as a
more practical matter, 1000 cubic yards per acre, per lift.
Operators are required to disc the contaminated

soils within 72 hours of receipt and bi-weekly thereafter.
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Operators are required to apply moisture as
required to control dust and to maintain bioremediation.

The application of microbes that are not native
microbes requires a prior Division approval.

And there's a requirement that operators remove
any free-standing water within 24 hours of a rainfall.
prior to this there was a 72-hour requirement, and anybody
in New Mexico knows there's not going to be any standing
water in 72 hours, and our goal here is to make sure that
there is no driving head that would cause any leaching of
contamination from the treatment zone to the vadose zone.

There's also a requirement that the operators
maintain the records.

Q. Okay. Other than the change from 72 hours to 24
hours on removal of water -- and there are some references
also to biopiles in paragraph (3), right?

A, That's correct.

Q. But other than those two things, is all of
paragraph (3) contained in the present surface waste
management facility gquide- -~

A, With the exception that we change this to be
eight-inch lifts, rather than the original six-inch 1lifts.

Q. Continue.

A. Moving on to G.(4), which specifies the

requirements for treatment zone monitoring, operators are
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required to spread the contaminated soil in eight-inch or
less lifts, they are required to conduct a semi-annual
treatment zone monitoring for TPH and chlorides.

And there's the requirement that -- prior to
adding an additional 1ift, that they have reduced the TPH
concentration to less than 2500 parts per million, which we
feel allows the operator to optimize the landfarm use while
waiting for the final reduction of TPH concentration, and
we think it will reduce the overall footprint of landfarms
in New Mexico by allowing that, rather than requiring them
to achieve a final closure standard before adding an
additional 1lift.

There is, of course, the continued requirement to
restrict chlorides to less than 1000 milligrams per
kilogram. Landfarm cells are required to cease operations
after reaching a maximum thickness of two feet, and we're
going to propose language that would make that actually
easier for the landfarm operators to track by adding
language that says 3000 cubic yards per acre.

Operators are required to treat to G.(6) closure
standards or remove the contaminated soils at closure.

There's a provision for other disposition on a
case-by-case basis.

Moving on to G.(5), which specifies the

requirements for vadose zone monitoring, operators are
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required to have a sampling program, they must take samples
petween three and four feet below the base of the -- below
the original surface.

We recognize the validity of some comments that
it would be better to have this at six inches rather than
at 10 feet or three feet. However, we think that when
you're dealing with farm implements it's very difficult to
be precise. And to avoid issues of false positives, we
specify that the vadose zone samples be taken practically
between three and four feet, which we think is still
protective, but it's practical.

Q. They're required to take a set of at least four
samples in --

A, That is correct --

Q. -- each case?
A. -- four representative, independent samples.
Q. Okay, continue.

A. And I should point out at some point that that
was =-- that that schedule of four samples was based on our
original draft, which specified a five-acre cell. We
realize that if a cell is 20 or 30 acres, that four samples
may not be sufficient.

Q. Okay, the Rule says at least four, does it not?

A. It does.

Q. Okay, continue.
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A. There is a requirement for a semi- -- the semi-
annual monitoring program requires four samples for TPH,
BTEX and chlorides, as we said, between three and four
feet.

And for the annual -- at least annually, the
operator must, in addition to taking four samples for TPH,
BTEX and chlorides, must also analyze for the 3103 metals
and inorganics, which are not the entire sections (A) and
(B) of 3103, but a subset of those two sections.

There's record-keeping requirements, and there's
a provision for corrective action for releases. If an
operator determines that the vadose zone has been impacted
by a release from the treatment zone, they're required to
report this to the Environmental Bureau chief, and the
Bureau will make a decision on what appropriate corrective
actions may be required.

Q. Okay. Now as to that corrective action
requirement, that is triggered by any evidence above
background, correct?

A, That is correct.

Q. But it doesn't necessarily mean that they have to
dig and haul or completely remediate any contamination?

A. No, it means that we're supposed to stop
operations, review operations, see what's going wrong. We

think that landfarms, if properly operated, will not have a
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release. If they're not being operated correctly, then we
need to find out what's not happening --

Q. Yeah --

A. -- as it should be.
Q. -- the statement you just made, yeah, I want to
emphasize, because -- I want you to emphasize, because I

believe that that's been raised in the comment. In your
opinion, if a landfarm is properly operated, is a no-
release standard realistic?

A. It can be achieved, yes.

Q. Okay. And would the Division make a decision on
a case-by-case basis as to whether or not remediation of
contamination that was found was necessary?

A, Yes.

Q. And they might simply require some change in the
way the landfarm was operated?

A. It may range from actually re-sampling to
changing operations to actually maybe closing the cell and
digging and hauling and depositing all the contamination in
a landfill.

Q. Thank you, you may continue.

A, G.(6), treatment zone closure performance
standards. Aftér reaching -- after the operator reaches
the cell thickness of two feet, or approximately 3000 cubic

yards per acre, the operator is required to continue
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treatment until the contaminated soil has been remediated
to either the background or the following standards:
benzene 0.2 milligrams per kilogram, BTEX 50 milligrams per
kilogram.

Total TPH, as measured by total extractable
petroleum hydrocarbons method 418.1, would be 1000 of that
fraction, no more than 500 milligrams per kilogram can be
GRO+DRO, and that's gasoline range organics plus diesel
range organics.

The chlorides can be no higher than 1000
milligrams per kilogram, and the WQCC Section 3103
constituents must be close to either the background or to
some specified landfarm soil closure standards. This
closure performance standard is a walk-away standard. The
operator is allowed to leave the contaminated -- or leave
the soil, the treated soil, in place at this point, and we
wanted to make sure that it was safe for human health and
the environment, so we made rather stringent closure
performance standards.

I should point out that our original closure
performance standards were 100 parts per million for TPH,
not really particularly defined by one particular method or
another, and that landfarm operators have been able to meet
that standard, but we increased it from 100 to 1000.

Q. Is that 100 TPH standard in our present
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guidelines?
A. It is in the present guidelines, it's not in the
regulations.
Q. Continue.
A. Continuing with G.(6), the question has arisen,

how did OCD determine the appropriate soil closure
performance standards? Well, the constituent list was
taken from the Water Quality Control Regulations, Section
3103. Closure to background is always allowed. There are
areas in New Mexico where the native arsenic standard is
higher than a particular -- a risk based number might be,
and you must always allow closure to a background
concentration.

Soil closure concentrations were risk based
numbers borrowed from other agencies, primarily from NMED,
and also based on OCD's experience with the issue of the
chlorides concentration. I mentioned that we borrowed the
soil concentration from other agencies, we didn't see any
reason to re-invent the wheel. There's a large number of
sources to go to when looking for a soil closure standard.

The benzene number of 0.2 was taken from NMED
Petroleum Storage Tank Bureau's 2000 guidance, which is a
tiered approach to underground storage tank releases. We
looked at one of the tiers and selected one of them that we

thought most closely approximated a landfarm, although we
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don't think that that guidance is particularly relevant
overall.

The BTEX number was contained in our 1993 spill
remediation guidance and was also proposed in our draft
Rule 50, and we were consistent with that.

Q. Okay. Are benzene and BTEX -- are these benzene
and BTEX levels at all difficult to achieve in landfarming?

A. No, not in our experience.

Q. Do -- the benzene and BTEX, are they remediated
rather quickly?

A. They do.

Q. Okay, continue.

A, TPH, which is somewhat problematic, is total
petroleum hydrocarbons, and we took that primarily from two
sources, or took it from one source and confirmed it with
another.

From NMED Solid Waste Bureau Regulations for
special waste, which specifies that you must reduce
petroleum-contaminated soils to 1000 parts per million TPH
before you can dispose of it in a municipal landfill.

And we also looked at NMED's 2005 soil screening
levels -- and I'll go through in some detail in a few
minutes -- for 2500 parts per million for a new lift, and
that's based on a waste o0il speciation.

Q. Now we also used this residential -- those
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residential soil =-- or NMED 2005 standards, to confirm our
500 DRO and our 1000 TPH standard --

A. Yes, it did, it also played into that as well.

Q. Now are those standards for remediating cleanup
sites?

A. Those are standards which were put together by
NMED's Groundwater Quality Bureau's voluntary remediation
program and the Hazardous Waste Bureau, and they are for
remediation of spill sites.

Q. Okay, continue.

A. And I should also point out that these numbers
are, based our recent sampling events, achievable.

The 3103 constituents, Section 3103 consists of
actually 47 constituents. Sections A and B include 42
constituents. There's a Section C, which we did not
include in our proposed closure standards, which consists
of an additional five constituents. And we went primarily

to, again, the NMED's 2005 soil --

Q. Okay --

A. -- screening levels.

Q. -- you've moved to your 172 page.

A. Okay, I'm sorry. OKkay, I should summarize, then,
again.

Benzene came from the PSTB 2000 guidance, BTEX

came from our 1993 guidance --
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Q. Okay, I believe we already -- I believe you've
already gone over that. I believe what you were doing just

a minute ago was on page 1727

A. I was moving to 172 =--

Q. Okay --

A. -- I'm sorry.

Q. -~ go ahead.

A. Further, the question has arisen as, how did =--

exactly how OCD determined the appropriate landfarm
treatment zone soil closure performance standards for
constituents or parameters other than TPH, BTEX and
chlorides, given that landfarms may treat soils
contaminated with a very large number of constituents.

As I mentioned, the constituent list came from
3103, Sections A and B only, excluding Section C. There
are 42 constituents or parameters.

We also considered going to the toxic pollutants
defined in the Water Quality Control Commission regulations
definition sections, which includes 93 constituents or
classes of constituents or isomers.

We determined that 3103 was appropriate, but the
guestion is, how appropriate is it for soil closure
standards? 3103 specifies constituents for the protection
of groundwater, which is a major responsibility for OCD as

a constituent agency of the Water Quality Control
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Commission.

3103 lists 42 constituents in Sections A and B.
34 of 42, or approximately 80 percent, are known crude oil
or produced water constituents, and in our opinion all --
or almost all are known waste constituents that you might
find in an oilfield services site, such as a chemical
supply company or upstream operations or downstream
operations.

The next slide may not be very visible, and
there's another one on page 175 that is a little more
legible. This is -~ I'd like to take a minute to walk
through this table, which basically summarizes our review
of 3103 as far as being an appropriate soil closure list.

The first column on page 175 -- I've duplicated
the columns here for this display -- consists of 3103
constituents. Arsenic through benzo-a-pyrine is Section A;
chloride through pH is Section B; and Section C, which we
did not include, was aluminum through nickel.

And you notice that there are three other columns
to the right, EPA 1995, EPA 2000, and TPHCWG 1998. These
were three sources of information that we went to. The EPA
1995 is the Petroleum Refining Industry Sector Notebook,
Exhibit 17. We went and just did a cross-check, and every
time we found that a constituent was listed on Exhibit 17,

it was checked off in that column.
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The EPA listed for the petroleum refining
industry 159 constituents on this one Exhibit 17. And you
can see the overlap between 3103 and EPA's study.

The next column over is EPA 2000, which was the
0il and Gas Extraction Industry, Table 5, which was
specifically produced water effluent concentrations.

Again, this consisted of 47 constituents, and the common
constituents found also in 3103 represented by a checkmark.
The next column is the Total Petroleum

Hydrocarbon Criteria Working Group. In 1998 they did a
study, and they also had 159 constituents. And Table 14 --
again, if it was found in 3103 we checked it off. This was
Table 14. There were 10 other additional lists, but Table
14 dealt specifically with crude oil.

There's some yellow highlighting. The first
light yellow highlighting, chromium III and chromium VI,
are commonly speciated in a lot of studies however are not
speciated in 3103. 3103 just lists chromium, it doesn't
speciate it. And that was just put in for completeness
when I was putting this table together.

The brightly highlighted eight other constituents
-- cyanide; fluoride; 1,1-dichloroethylene; methylene
chloride; 1,1-dichloroethane; 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane;
and vinyl chloride -- were not found in the three sources

that we went to.
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The other problematic issue was sulfate. It was
not found.

We don't think that TDS makes any sense for a
soil closure standard, because you're dealing with 100-
percent TDS. And pH also doesn't particularly make sense
to include as a closure standard, and so that did not make
it into the draft regulations.

Q. But all of the other constituents were included,

the A and B constituents?

A. That is correct.

Q. Even though they are not checkmarked on this?

A. That is correct, they went with -- we proposed
3103 for consistency, and we also suspect -- or probably --

were fairly convinced that the other constituents that are
brightly highlighted would reasonably show up if we were to
do a survey on the MSDS sheets on oilfield services
companies.

Q. Okay, the lines highlighted in green in the first
column on the right-hand portion --

A. Those are Section C, and those were excluded.

And those are for constituents that are relevant for crops.
Q. Now is each of these checkmarks -- does that
indicate that the relevant study found or detected these --

the particular constituent in the waste stream that they

analyzed?
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A. That's correct.

Q. Now do the results that you've got in these
tables, as far as what's contained in waste streams, do
they correlate with the associated waste study that Mr.
Price used in his presentation?

A. Yes, I didn't prepare a table for that for
presentation, but yes, there was a strong overlap on the
associated waste as another study that was put out there.

Q. And that's back on page -- I believe it's 161 of
the -- no, 61 of the materials, I believe.

A. I believe that it was earlier than 61. The
associated waste report is given on pages -- starting on
page 17 of Mr. Price's testimony.

Q. Thank you. Okay, you may continue.

A. Well, we -- we're looking at 3103. We considered
other sources or other references for crude oil, produced
water and TPH constituents. However, the sources that we
went to did not study oilfield waste services, and those,
again, were EPA 1995, EPA 2000, and the Total Petroleum

Hydrocarbon Criteria Working Group of 1998.

Q. Okay, are you going to go back and cover 177
through --

A. Yes.

Q. -- 1817

A. I'll need to switch over, I'm sorry.
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Again, this is the table we've been looking at.

And the next table here is a summary table,
rather complicated. I'd like to take another few minutes
to walk through this.

This table actually lists the W- -- or the 3103
constituents in the first column, and then in column B is
our proposed soil closure standards in G.(6). And the next
columns are the sources for those numbers that we put into
our draft rulemaking, were derived from, in yellow --
white/yellow highlighting.

We went primarily to NMED's 2005 soil screening
levels, and we looked primarily at the -- we took the more
protective concentration of either direct ingestion or
dermal contact or the soil-to-groundwater pathway, which is
a DAF of 1, using various sources, primarily NMED's 2005
guidance.

And there are some errors that I should point
out. First, the table is correct, total mercury should be
334 in the closure standards in G.(6), and that is a typo.
It says .105, I believe.

The next error is ethylene dibromide --

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Well, wait a minute, let's
catch that again, I didn't --

THE WITNESS: All right, sorry.

MR. BROOKS: Okay now, honorable Commissioners,
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we will have a handout to prepare you at the end of Mr. von
Gonten's presentation that will include all of these
things, so...

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay.

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Go ahead, Mr. von Gonten.

A. As I said, there was a typo in ethylene dibromide
and another typo in zinc, and we have a redline strike
presentation, which Mr. Brooks has referred to, to make
this clear.

Again, the next two columns were the NMED data,
and if we couldn't find it from that source, one of our
sister agencies, we went to EPA Region 3, Region 6, and
Region 9, and EPA's superfund soil screening guidance.

I did not include the so0il screening guidance
numbers from EPA's superfund, because it was not a look-up
table. It was actually a software program that you run on
the Web, and you would have to run through several
different screens to get each number.

Each one of these sources, whether it was NMED or
an EPA Region 3 risk based concentration or soil screening
levels or preliminary remediation goal, is a very
complicated table, look-up table, that has hundreds of
constituents and provides the relevant information about
each constituent and has several columns that we thought

were appropriate. We took the most conservative again,
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with our goal being the early detection of a release -- or
actually, this is not for release, this is actually for
closure. We recognize that there may be some minimal
amount of contamination, and we wanted to make sure that it
did not exceed the most protective number that we could
come up with.

Q. Okay, Mr. von Gonten, the -- most of the numbers
that you have used come from the New Mexico Environment
Department materials, do they not?

A. That's correct, most of them are actually from
the protection of groundwater --

Q. And once again -- once again, are these the
numbers generated by the Hazardous Waste Bureau?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. And they're used -- Or what is their use? We --

A. For a spill site remediation. It's RCRA facility
investigation of solid waste management units and areas of
concern. Most of these are historic spill sites or units
which proactively manage hazardous waste but resulted in a
release.

Q. Okay, the third column from the left on the

chart, what are those numbers? What is the significance of

those numbers?

A. Those numbers are the direct injection dermal

contact numbers. In other words, this is what the
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concentration may be -- Concentrations in excess of this
may pose a risk of -- either a carcinogen risk exceeding 1
in 100,000, or a non-carcinogen risk which would result in

a hazard index of greater than 1.0.

Q. And are these the levels that NMED considers
appropriate for soils and residential -- for residential
use?

A. Yes, these numbers go into the total risk

assessment that you would be required to conduct, and they
would result if you pass these numbers not merely on an
individual basis but on a cumulative basis, you would be
granted no further action, or you would use that number to
determine how much soil had to be removed.

Q. The fourth column, what is that -- what do those
numbers represent?

A. The fourth column, NMED's 2005 DAF of 1 is for
the protection of the soil-to-groundwater pathway.

Q. Now are those numbers derived from the Water
Quality Control Commission water quality standards?

A. Yes, they start off assuming protection of
groundwater to the Water Quality Control Commission
Regulations, 3103 concentrations, and the soil numbers are
back calculated. |

Q. Okay. This is =-- I expect the Commissioners

already understand it, but it's taken me several weeks to
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understand it, so this may be the most difficult question I
ask you. Up in the top heading of the fourth column it
gives the statement, DAF 1. Would you explain to the
honorable Commissioners what that means?

A, DAF of 1 means that it's a dilution attenuation
factor, and it's set to 1, which is the minimal that you
can set it to. 1It's a number that is used to -- basically
dilution is a solution, is what the DAF means, and it means
that in the saturated zone this accounts for dilution that
is protected from the point of contamination entering the
aquifer to the point of exposure or the point of
compliance.

Q. Now once the polluting -- once the pollutant

enters the groundwater -- which is the saturated zone,
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. -- then it's going to spread out because it's in
water, and -- is that the concept basically?

A. That is the concept, if you use a dilution factor

such as NMED proposes for small-scale sites of 20, or EPA
has recommended for small-scale sites of less than half an
acre.

Q. So as the water spreads out in the aquifer, then,
the p.p.m., parts per million concentration, is reduced

compared to what it is when the pollutant first enters the
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aquifer?
A, Generally, yes.
Q. So if it gets to a well site further downstream

from the point of entry, then would it be less concentrated
-- you would expect less concentration than it would at the
time --

A. Yes.

Q. ~- the actual amount that enters the --

A. Yes, you would.

Q. Is that what the DAF is intended to adjust for?

A. That is what the DAF considers, assuming that
you're not being protective of soil and that you're
protecting groundwater only at a point of compliance or a
point of exposure.

Q. Now a DAF of 1, does that mean that you don't
adjust the number?

A. That's correct.

Q. So what you're saying there is, when you use a
DAF of 1, then the standard that you apply to the soil is
the same standard that you would apply to -- that's your
water quality standard, it's the same as your water quality
standard?

A. With the exception that you have to look at the
leachability of that material in soil, and so the soil

factor is not considered in the -- is considered in the
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DAF. That's why there's a difference between the DAF of 1
and the 3103 constituent concentration given in the third-
from-the-right column.

Q. So when the -- when NMED constructed these
numbers without regard to the DAF, it had already adjusted
for the ability of those constituents to move in the soil;
is that correct?

A. That's correct, that's accounted for in the DAF.

Q. So the DAF is not intended to adjust for that; is
that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. There's also a concept called the retardation
factor.

A. Yes, this is what is happening when you take the
contamination from a source, move it through the
unsaturated zone.

Q. Are these numbers already adjusted for the
retardation factor?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Retardation factor doesn't have anything to do
with the employees who operate the landfarm?

A. Not generally.

(Laughter)
Q. Okay. Is there any particular reason why, in

your opinion, NMED would use a DAF of 1 in most of our
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landfarm situations?

A. Well, they point out in their guidance, when they
provide a column of a DAF of 1 and a column of a DAF of 20,
which is their default scenario, that a DAF of 20 is for
small-scale sites, it is not appropriate for large sites,
and it is not appropriate for areas where you have shallow
groundwater or karst or fractured caliche.

Q. Now in southeastern New Mexico is there a lot of
karst terrain?

A. There is.

Q. Is there a lot of caliche?

A. There is.

Q. In your experience, is fracturing common in
caliche?

A. It is.

Q. When they're talking about small sites, what do
they =-- you know, small -- how small is small?

A. EPA has used a half-acre site. Predominantly
this is being driven by the UST program, in my opinion.
However, there are some curves that EPA has generated that
relate the size and the appropriateness of the DAF. But
when you're talking about large-scale facilities, such as a
landfarm, that go up to 500 acres -- which I calculated, I
believe, a couple weeks ago, to be over 20 million square

feet -- the appropriate number always converges to a DAF of
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Q. Okay =--

A. -- even ignoring the issue of macro-pores and
fractured caliche and karst.

Q. Now some of our commentors have raised the issue
with regard to these standard numbers that some of them are
below the practical detection level.

A, That could be the case. And in any case, we
would only hold the closure standard to the practical
quantitation limit, and we would support the change that
would make that clear.

Q. Okay, continue.

A, I've referred several times to the Environment
Department's 2005 guidance, and these tables, Table 1 and
Tables 2a, are taken from that guidance.

Q. And excuse me, this is on page 179, correct?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Make sure everyone's with us. Continue.

A. And we use this table for a couple purposes,
primarily for the new lift criteria and for the confirming
or DRO+GRO closure standard of 500 milligrams per kilogram.
And we notice that when dealing with TPH, researchers have
commonly speciated TPH into more manageable fractions.
There are several hundred TPH fractions -- or TPH compounds

in total petroleum hydrocarbon, and it's just intractable
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to deal with individual constituents.

NMED apparently followed the Massachusetts
guidance, generally, and they speciated into three
fractions: the C11 through C22, which dealsbwith aromatics;
the aliphatic or straight- or branch-change hydrocarbons of
carbon count C9 through C18; and C19 through C36.

They made some assumptions on what the relative
percentage of each one of those fractions is in a petroleum
product. Moét of the spills that the voluntary remediation
program and then the Groundwater Quality Bureau and then
the Hazardous Waste Bureau deal with are actually fuel
spills rather than crude oil spills. So they've speciated
-~ or they've looked particularly at common petroleum
products such as diesel, fuel oil, kerosene and jet fuel
such as JP-4, JP-6 and JP-8, mineral oil in an industrial
setting, the dielectric fluids, a miscellaneous called
unknown oil, and waste oil.

You notice that if the facility cannot specify
what the oily material is from, they use the most
conservative -- they consider it to be a hundred percent
aromatics and therefore would be a high toxicity.

The waste o0il we looked at assumes 100-percent
long-chain hydrocarbons or longer-chain hydrocarbons, C19
to C36, and this is what we thought would be relevant for a

lift of weathered contaminated soil after a couple of years
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in a landfarm. We would expect, from our experience, to
see the short-chain hydrocarbons will have volatilized or
biodegraded and the more recalcitrant long-chain
hydrocarbons would be remaining.

And we noticed that for the residential -- moving
down to Table 2a -- the residential concentration that was
considered protective for direct exposure was 2500, and we
selected this for our new lift criteria.

We also noted that when we're dealing with
diesel, which is given by diesel number 2 and crankcase
oil, that NMED came up with a 520-milligrams-per-kilogram

number, and that was appropriate for our 500 closure

standard.
Q. That -- in your opinion does the use of the 520
standard by NMED for diesel -- in your opinion does that

confirm our 500 p.p.m. =--

A. It is supported, and it does confirm --

Q. -- standard? Continue.

A. Well, we also looked a little closer at this
Table 2a, and we noted that if you take the mean of those
six concentrations given in the highlighted column, you'll
come up on the right with the average mean being -- or the
mean being 976 milligrams per kilogram, which we thought
was very supportive of our 1000 milligrams per kilogram,

which was based originally on the Solid Waste Bureau's TPH
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standard for special wastes.

Finally, we considered -- on the TPH issue, we
were impreSsed by the Canada-wide standards for petroleum
hydrocarbons in soil, 2001. It chose to fractionate the
TPH constituents into four fractions based on carbon count
of the short-chain hydrocarbons of Cé6 through C10, Cl1
through C16, C17 to C34, and greater than -35, and greater.

We think that the fractions 1 and 2 of the
Canada-wide standards represent, to a large degree, the
GRO+DRO fraction.

We noticed that they subspeciated the TPH
fractions into exposure scenarios, land use, and they also
noted there was a difference between soil texture. So you
have a number of cells in this table. The highlighted ones
are the ones that are for the protection of groundwater or
surface water, and we thought that that was appropriate to
consider.

We did some brief descriptive statistics on the
Canada-wide standards, and we looked first at just the
fraction 1 and 2, speciated for protection of groundwater.
Those would be those yellow-highlighted cells above. And
there were 15 cells -- if you look down at the bottom, you
see the count equals 15 -- and they came up with a very
conservative number of 187, which might have been

supportive of our original number of 100.
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But then we looked at the -- further to the
right, the brightly highlighted fraction 1 and 2, and
looked at the average of all 29 cells in basically the
fraction 1 and 2 columns, and that came up with 419, and we
thought that was supportive of our GRO+DRO fraction. 1It's
not exactly the same, because the carbon counts are the
same thing as what we would expect from an 8015 analytical
test to resolve.

And for completeness we also looked at fractions
3 and 4, which are the long-chain, more recalcitrant
hydrocarbons. And we noticed the average of those columns,
jumping up again, goes from a very conservative number of
400 to a very high number of 6600 parts per million. We
noticed that the mean was 2900 for residential and
agricultural use, and that the mean was 2962, considering
all land uses.

Q. Mr. von Gonten, in the mean in the third column
from the left, that's 2400, right?

A. That is 2400 parts per million.

Q. Okay, did you say 2900, by any chance?

A. The 2900 is the -- if you look further to the
right on the screen, you'll see 2962, which is for all land
uses, which would be restricting it to commercial and
industrial standards, and we did that for completeness.

Q. Thank you.
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A. Jumping back now to the PowerPoint, let's see,
this is where I got off track, I apologize.

So in summary, we looked at alternate references
for concentrations or sources of constituents for crude
oil, produced water, TPH constituents. We weren't able to
find a good source for oilfield services waste, but we did
see the associated wastes, so that would also support that.

During our outreach, when we talked with all
concerned parties, and -- industry asserted that our
proposed standards were not based on sound science and
recommended that OCD adopt NMED's Petroleum Storage Tank
Bureau risk based decision-making process.

Our takeaway from those outreach meetings was
that industry was particularly concerned about two main
issues: that the TPH soil closure standards simply could
not be achieved, and that other soil closure standards
should be limited to only BTEX, using a -- 10 times the
tank program's Tier 1 concentration and specifically
recommending that OCD allow small amounts of contamination
to migrate below the treatment zone into the vadose zone.

Q. Okay, let me interrupt you and ask you about
question 1. You're going to go into that later, are you
not --

A. Yes.

Q. -- achievability?
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A. Yes.

Q. But just in summary, does our data indicate that
in the majority of situations in New Mexico, these
standards would be achieved?

A. Yes.

Q. Continue.

A. Well, the question has to be asked, why did we
eventually reject industry's recommendations to base all
soil closure concentrations standards on risk based
concentrations and to use their proposed bioremediation
endpoint approach for TPH?

We rejected this proposal because [sic] landfarms
up to 500 acres in size that handle large volumes of poorly
characterized oil-contaminated waste and will be
operational for many years should be allowed to contaminate
the environment even in small amounts. Rule 53 is designed
to prevent releases, not to permit releases. Our goal is
that there should be no new releases as a result of
operations.

As previously noted, we intentionally borrowed
numbers from other sister waste-management agencies, such
as the Environment Department's Solid Waste, Groundwater
Quality Bureau and Hazardous Waste Bureaus because of
similar waste streams, technology, administrative issues

such as permitting requirements and environmental concerns
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such as the protection of groundwater.

The Environment Department's Petroleum Storage
Tank Bureau's remedial action program is not the waste
management program and deals primarily with small-scale UST
accidental spills, not large landfarms at which operators
will intentionally apply large volumes of contaminated
soil.

We noticed that -- when doing our research, that
every organization such as API or Massachusetts who looked
into the appropriateness of using TPH during a risk based
decision-making process found that it was extremely
complicated because of the large number, from several
hundred -- estimates from several hundred to several
thousand individual hydrocarbon compounds and other
heterocyclic compounds that occur in crude, plus the
oilfield waste, make it very difficult if not impossible to
characterize the risk based on a TPH number alone.

Industry's risk based approach would set oilfield
waste management standards to as low a standard as could be
justified using risk based numbers. No pathway, no risk.
OCD chose to propose waste management rules that are based
on best management practices, as Mr. Price pointed out in
his testimony on the first day of this hearing.

Q. Now let me interrupt you about that "no pathway,

no risk". I am assuming probably the Commissioners
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understand this -- we're not presenting this case to a jury
-- but I didn't understand it at first, so would explain
what a pathway is?

A. Yes, during the outreach meetings, the discussion
about a risk based approach dealt with -- in part, with the
idea that if there's no pathway or that the constituents
have been released to -- been reduced to low
concentrations, then there is no risk. Not that the
compounds are not toxic, but that there is no risk because
there is no pathway.

Q. And does the pathway refer to a predictable chain
of events by which the pollution will make its way to a
particular receptor?

A. Yes, there are standard scenarios, there's direct
ingestion or inhalation or -- you can drink contaminated
water or you can have dermal contact with contaminated
soil.

Q. Okay, and --

A. There are a number of specific, well defined
pathways that must be considered.

Q. Our approach is not based on identifying a
specific pathway, then. 1Is our approach just based on
preventing the release of these contaminants into --

A. That's correct --

Q. -~ the environment?
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A. -- our approach is no release, no risk.
Q. Continue.
A. We can see that there is no logical reason to

allow even small amounts of contamination to be released
from any surface waste management facility, regardless of
whether it is a landfarm, landfill, oil treatment plant or
evaporation pond.

The requirements for large scale treatment and
disposal facilities should be much more stringent than
those for a small scale spill site.

Rule 53.G -- or 53 -- is for surface waste
manégement facilities, it isn't a spill set of regulations.

OCD rejected industry's proposed risk based
approach because of the size of the surface waste
management facilities -- up to 500 acres again -- the
length of time -- these facilities will be operational for
many years, perhaps decades -- and OCD determined that a
best management practice standard is more appropriate for
surface waste management facilities.

The question arose as why OCD rejected industry's
recommendations to base all soil -- closure soil
concentration standards on a risk based approach and to use
the bioremediation endpoint for TPH.

Well, we simply disagree with industry's

assertions that landfarms in New Mexico cannot achieve the
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GRO+DRO standard of 500 milligrams per kilogram, based on
its own experience with New Mexican landfarms. New Mexican
landfarm operators commonly have been able to achieve the
DRO standard that would meet the old standard of less than
100 parts per million.

Q. Okay, did the Environment Bureau conduct a study
to -- a sampling study, to determine from the available
evidence what levels of remediation are actually being
achieved in New Mexico landfarms?

A. Yes, we were very concerned about the
observations that were made that we might be getting false
data or inaccurate data, so we went and conducted our own
sampling events, three sampling events.

Q. Okay, then would you proceed to discuss the
results that we --

A. This first slide we can skip. This is the old
exhibit of -- on page 192, when we've provided counsel and
the Commission with some replacement displays, exhibits.

This is a log-log scale that represents the
results of our sampling event. OCD staff went out on three
separate occasions and sampled the treatment zone at
several landfarms in Lea County and in San Juan County. We
asked the landfarm operators to take us to an old cell that
was ready for closure, and we wanted to see if these could

meet the standard that we had proposed.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

562

Q. Now how did you select the landfarms that you
sampled?

A. We coordinated with the district inspectors, and
they made the arrangements with the local landfarm
operators to visit the landfarms. We went out with the
landfarm operators or their agents.

Q. And was the objective to get a random sampling?

A. Yes, it was. We -- the only direction we gave
them is, take us through the oldest cell or cell that
you're proposing for closure.

Q. Okay. And on this chart does each one of these

diamonds represent a data point that is the amount of TPH
identified in the sample from one particular landfarm?

A. Yes, we took a total of 21 samples. The X axis
is the DRO concentration in milligrams per kilogram. We
analyzed -- each soil sample was analyzed for TPH by method
8015-B modified; method 418.1, which gives you more of the
concentration of the long-chain hydrocarbons; we also
analyzed for chlorides.

Each data point there -- each sample therefore
was analyzed in at least two ways for TPH. I don't know if
I can actually -- Okay, I can --

Q. Okay, we didn't give you a pointer, so Mr. Price
has gone to get you one.

A. Okay.
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Q. But we don't to delay the Commission, so go

A. As you can see, this is a log scale, log scale,
so this is a log log display. The data points here would
represent that this particular sample was approximately --
probably below the detection limit of .1 parts per million,
and on the 418 test was actually something like 5 or 6
parts per million.

Our data ranged from very low concentrations up
to one data point exceeded on the 418.1 test more than
10,000.

We have plotted the proposed 500 milligrams per
kilogram combined GRO+DRO. This chart would look the same
if we combined the GRO plus the DRO, however GRO was non-
detect in all 21 samples, so we're just plotting basically
DRO. But if we were to change the label here it would be
GRO+DRO and it would look exactly the same.

Okay, you --

A. The red line is the 500 milligrams per
kilogram --

Mr. Brooks?

Q. Yeah, you pointed out that this is a logarithmic
scale, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. So --
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A. This is 100, this is 200, this is 300, this is
1000, 2000, 3000, and so on.

Q. So when you start looking at those numbers that
are beyond the red lines -- for instance, there's one I see
that's just to the left of the vertical red line -- go down
to the next one below that -- that looks like -- just
eyeballing it, that looks like it would be about halfway
between 1000 and 10,000, which would make it about 6000 or
7000. What is it actually?

A. That's about 3000. This would be -- the red line
is 1000, this is 2000, this is 3000.

Q. Okay, continue with your explanation.

A, So we were conducting this sampling event
actually to determine whether we actually were able to
achieve concentrations below several thousand. And our
takeaway from the outreach was that the industry experts
were convinced that if we were getting data that Qas less
than 1000, that it couldn't be real data.

What we noticed is that on the DRO standard -- or
the GRO+DRO, which is method 8015-B modified -- 17 out of
21 data points actually met that standard. On the 1000
milligrams per kilogram standard, on the long chain of the
418.1 test, we saw that 11 -- you add these up, there's 11
out of these 21 data points, so this is approximately the

midpoint that shows you what is actually being achieved
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today in what we refer to as dry land landfarming.

These landfarm operators do not add moisture.
They rely entirely on -- as far as we know, on natural
rainfall. And as far as we know, they're not amending the
contaminated soil with nutrients.

So this represents what's being -- what's
happening today in New Mexico at old cells that are ready
for closure and have been not subjected to any strenuous

management techniques.

Q. Now did you prepare charts that summarize the --
A. Yes, moving on =--

Q. -- results?

A. -- to the next one, this is a semi-log scale.

Again, the concentrations of the diesel range organics are
given here in a log scale going from the detection limit of
.1 to a concentration here that would be 2000, 3000,
somewhat less between four -- let's see, two, three --
between 3000 and 4000 parts per million.

Again, the 500 milligrams per kilogram line is
shown here, and if you go up and read on it, you see that
basically 80 percent of the data -- again, that's 17 out of
21 sample points =-- actually met that DRO standard.

The next slide is the same information for the
TPH or total extractable petroleum hydrocarbons as

determined by 418.1. Again, the red line is 1000
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15

milligrams per kilogram, and if you go up there you see
that somewhat over 50 percent of the data falls less than
the 1000 milligrams per kilogram.

If you were to look at -- What we have been told,
or what we understood, is that if you were looking at
numbers less than several thousand, say 4000 or 5000 or
6000 parts per million -- that would be two, three, four,
five -- you would see that somewhere over 90 percent of the
data is actually meeting a standard that we were led to
understand -- or that we understood would not naturally
occur.

So we're convinced, in summary, that landfarm
operators were providing us with real data and that that
data shows that they're able to achieve the proposed
standards in many cases, but not all cases.

Q. Okay. And do our regulations -- or does our
proposed Rule incorporate the concept that a landfarm can
apply for alternative closure standards if it cannot meet
the prescribed closure standards?

A. Yes, that language is in our Rule.

Q. And that would require notice to the community --

or to surrounding persons, to permit them to become

involved --
A, That is correct.
Q. -- if they chose to do so? Continue.
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A. Well, industry had proposed a bioremediation
endpoint approach for total petroleum hydrocarbons. And
after careful consideration we did have a problem with the
proposal. We saw the potential for it, but we did see a
problem.

And as Mr. Price testified on his -- on the first
day of this hearing, we're aware that not all soils and
drill cuttings predominantly contaminated by hydrocarbons
are amenable to bioremediation in a landfarm. There are
some contaminated soils that just will not -- are not
amenable to bioremediation.

Therefore, we're requiring operators to follow an
environmentally acceptable bioremediation endpoint approach
that requires an 80-percent reduction in the TPH
concentration, and this is specified in Rule G.(8), which
I'11 get to in a few minutes.

And our concern, again, was that as originally
proposed, an operator could apply contaminated soil at a
high concentration -- perhaps 50,000 parts per million --
follow all the procedures, and a couple years down the road
it would have been reduced to 45,000 parts per million, and
the rate of reduction contained in the definition would
have been essentially zero, and that they could walk away
leaving what we consider to be inherently wastelike

material in the landfarm.
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And so for that reason we specified an 80-percent
reduction. And our sampling data indicates that this
should be possible.

Q. Now =--

A, And we're concerned when -- in addressing with
this, to make sure that we set the bar high enough for
operators that it was protective of human health and the
environment.

Q. With a 50,000-parts-per-million standard for the
unremediated waste and an 80-percent reduction, how much --
what would be the residual left at the time of the -- what
would be the maximum residual left at the time of --

A. Assuming that you started off with 50,000 parts
per million and achieved an 80-percent reduction, you would
be walking away leaving 10,000 parts per million.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Didn't know it was going to be
a math quiz today, did you?

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) And did that play a part in our
choosing the 80-percent number?

A. It played a part, yes.

Q. Okay. If we did not have a remediation number, a
percent remediation number, then we could be left with
residuals much higher than the 10,000 parts per million at
the bioremediation endpoint --

A. Correct, our concern was that you might remediate
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it from 50,000 to 45,000, achieve only a l0-percent
reduction, and you might be dealing with waste that simply
wasn't amenable to bioremediation.

Q. Continue.

A, We based the rest of our proposed soil
concentration standards on 3103 constituents, on NMED's
2005 soil screening guidance, soil screening levels. For
WQCC 3103 constituents not considered by NMED, OCD
considered various soil cleanup lists issued by EPA regions
3, 6, 9 and EPA's superfund.

And as previously noted, we determined from the
onset that we should be consistent with other waste
management programs such as ED's Solid Waste, Hazardous
Waste and Groundwater Quality Bureaus.

Our goal with Rule 53 is to protect human health
and the environment by ensuring through sensible waste
management practices -- i.e., best management practices --
that operators will prevent pollution by ensuring that no
new releases of oilfield waste occur as a result of the
operations of surface waste management facilities.

So the question came up as to what assumptions
did we make about closure standards, for landfarms
particularly? And we assumed unrestricted residential land
use during post-closure. People can be growing crops on

these sites of these old landfarms, they could be raising
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crops, they could be putting water wells in. There's no
restrictions.

Given the large size and large variety of
contamination waste streams that may be handled at a
landfarm, OCD chose conservative soil concentration
standards. However, the most conservative standard would
be to background.

OCD chose the more protective concentration of
either direct ingestion, dermal contact or the soil-to-
groundwater pathway, using the most conservative dilution
attention factor of 1 taken from various sources, again
Environment Department being the primary source.

This final slide is to kind of summarize what the
waste exceptions criteria, the new lift criteria and the
closure criteria are for each constituent.

The various constituents that we're looking at
are specified in the first column, and the relevant
criteria is given in the cells following. The waste
criteria acceptance is not really based on the
constituents, it is based -- except for chlorides, there is
the requirement that facilities must pass the paint filter
test, and you may accept tankbottoms on a case-by-case
basis.

The TPH of 50,000 milligrams, however, is only

for -- despite what this slide says, it is only for
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facilities choosing to implement the environmentally
acceptable bioremediation endpoint approach specified in
G.(8), it is not --

Q. Now this may not --

A. -- for all the other landfarms.

Q. This may not be the place to ask it, but I want
to ask it so I'll go ahead. On the chloride standards, you
relied on work done by Chief Price, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. Now OCD did not do any investigation about the
effect that chlorides would have on the landfarming
operation itself, did they?

A. Well, that was something that we noted in our
review of landfarming operations, but we didn't do a
particular study on chlorides concentrations versus the
positive or negative impact on the microbes.

- Q. Our primary concern with chlorides was the
protection of groundwater?

A. That's correct.

Q. And did we feel that the number we came up with,
1000, was a conservative number?

A, It is conservative.

Q. And OCD has never relied on -- to defend that
number, on a contention that a somewhat higher number would

be damaging to the landfarming process itself.
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A. That's correct.
Q. Continue.
A. Again, the criteria for the new lift, the only

one that really counts, other than the chlorides, is, the
total petroleum hydrocarbon concentration should be reduced
to 2500 milligrams per kilogram, and that was based on the
Environment Department's guidance, specifically for waste
oil, which we thought was approximately equivalent to
weathered oil that you might find in a landfarm after
several years.

And finally, the closure criteria, again, to
summarize, is, benzene is .2, BTEX is 5 -- excuse me, 50 --
the 1000 milligrams per kilogram of TPH is taken from -- if
you see the bottom footnote, the solid waste management
regulations at 20.9.1.700 NMAC, Special Waste Requirements,
which states that remediation shall be deemed adequate when
the following conditions are met, and that condition is 100
-- Oor excuse me -- 1000 milligrams per kilogram.

Okay, that concludes G.(6).

Moving on to G.(7), which is the disposition of
treated soils, the regulations require that if the
treatment zone closure standards have been met, the
operator may leave the treated soil in place, or dispose
and re-use the treated soil in an alternative manner.

However, if the operator is unable to achieve the
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closure standards, then they must remove that lift of soil
and dispose of it in an OCD-approved landfill, or may re-
use and recycle in a manner approved by the Division on a
case-by-case basis.

And alternative soil standards are possible on a
case-by-case basis with public notice. And this goes back
to your question, Mr. Brooks, earlier, and this is the
section that specifies that that can be handled in an
alternative manner.

G.(8) the environmentally acceptable
bioremediation endpoint approach.

In our errata sheet that we handed out on the
first date, we noticed that this should specify that this
is in lieu of TPH requirements only. It is not for -- you
still have to meet the 3103 constituents, the BTEX
constituents and the chloride constituents. This is for
TPH reduction only.

The concepts here are the bioremediation endpoint
versus the environmentally acceptable bioremediation
endpoint. There's a requirement for a detailed landfarm
operations plan, there's a requirement for the operator to
have dedicated landfarm cells to implement this approach.
There's additional detailed information required and
additional operational requirements.

As I mentioned, this is in lieu of the TPH
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requirements only.

Q. In that connection, of course, the bioremediation
process isn't going to have any effect on the metals, for
instance?

A. There may be some minor impact by the metals with
microbes that I've read about, but largely no.

Q. Or the chlorides?

A. Or the chlorides.

Q. Now with respect to the benzene and the BTEX, if
you've got a valid bioremediation endpoint, would you
expect a no-detect on those?

A. We'd expect those to be very low.

Q. Okay, continue.

A. What -- I'd like to talk a little bit about the
distinction here, about industry's proposed bioremediation
endpoint and our environmentally acceptable bioremediation
endpoint.

We took the definition that was proposed by the
industry committee, and a bioremediation endpoint is when
the TPH is reduced to a minimal concentration and the rate
of reduction is essentially zero.

An environmentally acceptable bioremediation
endpoint that we put in G.(8) requires that the TPH be

reduced by at least 80 percent and the rate of reduction is

Zero.
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Q. Now we do not prescribe the manner in which we
would -- we do not prescribe in our Rule what would
constitute a demonstration of bioremediation endpoint being
achieved?

A. No, it will be =-- the burden will be put on the
operator to specify those details under a detailed
operations plan.

Q. However, would we require -- would we have to
have more data than just two sets of samples that showed no
further deterioration in order to make that determination?

A. Yes, we would require a detailed statistical =--
an analysis plan that would demonstrate that the rate of
reduction is zero.

Q. Continue.

A. As I mentioned earlier, we're restricting the
hydrocarbon loading factor to less than 5 percent or 50,000
parts per million, and we were concerned primarily with
this approach -- we saw the promise of this approach, but
we did have a concern and again that not all contamination
that might go to a landfarm under Rule 53.G is necessarily
amenable to bioremediation, and we wanted to see a
reasonable amount of remediation has occurred. Otherwise,
it should never have been put in the landfarm in the first
place.

And our concern here is that if you start off
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with 50,000 and achieve an 80-percent reduction, then you
can walk away at 10,000 parts per million. We're a little
concerned about that, but we thought that we had to at
least give this approach a chance.

We're looking at the number 80 percent, we
quickly determined that 10 percent just wasn't adequate
enough, it's not a meaningful amount of remediation, it's
not a meaningful amount of reduction. It would still leave
concentrations in place, potentially, that were inherently
wastelike.

And we looked at a number of guidance documents
to see what was actually achieved. We noticed that in the
1980s there was a lot of startup programs where EPA never
finalized the reports, they had a lot of interim reports.
But we were seeing that a lot of remediation could occur at
very low concentrations.

But EPA summarized it in one of its UST guidance
documents that more than 95 percent reduction was very
difficult. Not impossible, it had been achieved, but it
was generally very difficult.

And we also considered that EPA also has a land
disposal restriction for RCRA hazardous waste. Before you
can dispose of a RCRA hazardous waste at a RCRA hazardous
waste landfill there are land disposal restrictions that

you must meet, and one of those requires a 90-percent --
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may require a 90-percent reduction, to meet the LDR
standard specified in 40 CFR 268.40 through .49, which is
subpart D.

We -- our own data indicated that this number
would be achievable, an 80-percent reduction would probably
be achievable. We do not have the information that allows
us to be certain about this because we do not know what the
starting petroleum hydrocarbon loading was on the samples
that we analyzed, but the data persuaded us that they were
achieving pretty decent bioremediation in most sites.

So --

Q. You're referring here to the data from our
landfarm sampling study?

A, That is correct. We finally settled on an 80-
percent reduction because it was setting the bar high
enough that we thought it was protective of human health
and the environment. We demonstrated to Concerned Citizens
that the approach had actually succeeded, that it was a
meaningful amount of remediation, and was not as stringent
as the LDR standards and was not pushing the EPA envelope
of 95 percent reduction.

The requirements for G.(8) include the
requirement to submit a detailed landfarm operation cell --
landfarm operations plan, and the requirement that they

implement this approach in a dedicated cell.
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There are additional operational requirements.
One is that the facility or the operator characterize the
native soil, they characterize the contaminated soil, they
specify detailed operating procedures and detailed
management procedures.

In characterizing the native soil, which is
essentially the vadose zone, we wanted to know a lot of
detailed information. There's a long list here, but this
information is not particularly expensive to get. And
we're going slow. This is a -- has been referred to as
cutting-edge technology, and we want to make sure we have
all the information we need, plus a little bit more, rather
than a little bit less.

Q. Specifically, why did we require native soil
characterization?

A. This is a new approach, and we want to know not
only what the impact is on the treated soil but what
particular impact it might have on the vadose zone or the
native soil.

Q. Is it possible that the soil in which the
treatment will occur will be a mixture of the treated soil
and the native so0il?

A. Practically speaking, yes, there is going to be
some mixing of the vadose zone and the contaminated soil

applied in lifts.
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Q. A plow is not a -- very much of a precision
instrument, is it?
A. Not -- indeed not.
Q. Does Dr. Sublette's work support the proposition

that soil characteristics are very significant in achieving
a valid bioremediation endpoint?

A. I believe it does, my understanding is that it
did.

Q. Continue.

A. Again, this is a list. We want to know the cell
size, the soil porosity, the bulk density, the pH, the
moisture content and, associated with that, the field
capacity, organic matter concentration, soil structure --
by this we mean soil structure that you'd get out of a soil
science textbook; it's descriptive -- measurement of the
sodium adsorption ratio or SAR, the electrical conductivity
or EC, the soil composition -- again from an agronomy or a
soil science perspective -- soil temperature, the initial
nutrient concentrations, carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous
concentrations, and the oxygen content.

Of course, you need to characterize the
contaminated soils. You need to know the petroleum
hydrocarbon loading factor, which will have to be basically
a running average of the TPH that is delivered to the

landfarm cell, which may vary on a load-by-load basis.
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Spills generaily have very high concentrations in
a central location, and the concentration of the
contamination decreases from that center point.

We also want to know the BTEX concentration, the
chlorides concentration, the 3103 constituent
concentrations, soil moisture, pH.

We've deleted the requirement for the total
organic carbon, because we considered it to be redundant
after an outreach meeting.

And the API gravity, if available. Our
understanding is that the bioremediation endpoint is
strongly dependent upon the API gravity, and that
information should be provided if available.

Other operational requirements or operating
procedures. How are they going to till this? How are they
going to maintain and track the hydrocarbon loading? pH
maintenance, nutrients, moisture and TPH concentrations as
new lifts are applied.

There's also the requirement for management
procedures. We want to know how the operator is going to
schedule the operations, the record-keeping procedures and
sampling and analysis plan, the statistics which will be
very important, general reporting and routine reporting, a
report of the endpoint determination, and any closure and

post-closure care plans.
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Q. Now before you go on to that slide, let me ask
this question, because it relates to the bioremediation
endpoint. We're going to talk about small landfarms in a
minute, registered landfarms, but why -- as I understand
this section, G.(8) applies only to the permitted
landfarms; is that correct?

A. That is correct. G.(8) is for a permitted -
either a commercial or a centralized landfarm --

Q. So --

A. -- that wants to implement the environmentally
acceptable bioremediation endpoint approach.

Q. So the small landfarms would either have to
achieve the closure standards or obtain approval for
alternative closure standards?

A. That is correct.

Q. Why was the decision made not to include the --
not to authorize the bioremediation endpoint for the small
permitted landfarm -- registered landfarms?

A. Practicality. We're dealing with two new issues
that we have relatively little experience with. Small
landfarms have not been in our regulations before, it's
new. Neither has the environmentally acceptable
bioremediation endpoint approach, and we simply thought
that was something we were not comfortable with, we have

too little experience to really administer it.
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Q. Is it also true that we contemplate there'll be
quite a few of these small landfarms?

A. There's the possibility of it.

Q. And is it -- can you achieve a bioremediation
endpoint without careful and systematic operation of a
landfarm?

A. No, that's contrary to the proposed
bioremediation endpoint approach. It mandates that you
have to operate the landfarm to a very high efficiency.
You must apply moisture, keep the moisture content of the
soil between certain levels, and you must apply nutrients,
and you must till it quite regularly.

Q. And I should have said, is it -- you answered
correctly, but just to make clear what we mean I should
have asked you, is it possible to achieve a valid
bioremediation endpoint if you have not --

A. No, that's --

Q. You'll get to an endpoint --

A. You'll get to an endpoint.

Q. -- but you'll still -- but will you still have at
that endpoint, if you haven't properly maintained your
landfarm, will you still have more of the constituents, of
the hazardous constituents, than you would have if you'd
gotten to a valid bioremediation endpoint?

A. Based on our understanding of it, yes --
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Q. Is that --
A. -- we have no direct experience.
Q. Is that understanding consistent with Dr.
Sublette's work that's been filed in this case?
A. It's based on my understanding of his work.
Q. Now if we have a large number of scattered sites,

does that present a difficulty for us in monitoring these
sites to be sure they are being properly operated?

A. Yes, the small landfarms will just be registered.
We won't be going through a permitting process, and we
won't have any control, therefore, on whether they were
able to do all the things that are required that we've just
covered over the last few slides, which is fairly extensive
requirement. We would have no confidence, without having
some sort of permit review process attached to the
bioremediation endpoint approach, that they were actually
doing it or that we would get routine reports that would
document that they were doing so.

Q. As compared to the bioremediation endpoint
approach, which is fairly complicated, does the -- having a
flat closure number, like a benchmark number, does that
help to keep the administration of this matter simple?

A. It does.

Q. Okay, you may continue.

A, The final slide is referred to as a rebuttal

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

584

exhibit.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, is it appropriate
to go into a rebuttal exhibit prior to --

MR. BROOKS: Well, since we have prefiled
testimony, I think it's -- I mean, not prefiled testimony
but prefiled exhibits, I think that it will save the
Commission time and subserve efficiency if we present a
rebuttal point to the prefiled exhibits during our direct
examination and possibly avoid having to call the witness
back in the rebuttal stage.

We will do, however, whatever pleases the
Commission.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Hiser and Mr. Carr, Mr.
Huffaker, do you all have any objection to going into
rebuttal before we get to the case?

MR. HUFFAKER: No problem.

MR. HISER: If they want to object to the straw
man, that's -- More power to then.

(Laughter)

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, Mr. Brooks, continue.

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Okay. In your review of Mr. --
of Dr. Sublette's work, does it appear that -- does Dr.
Sublette's work appear to contend that the 80-percent
remediation standard that we have put in for the

bioremediation endpoint is not achievable?
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A. I don't know that it says it's not achievable, it
says that it's strongly dependent on the API gravity, that
it is achievable, depending on several factors of which the
API gravity is one.

Q. And when we received his material, did you
undertake to try to apply the API gravity limitations that
he suggested to the data that's available on New Mexico
crude 0il?

A. We were interested in this point, because it
seems to be a very important point to the bioremediation
endpoint approach as we understood it. And we thought that
we would check to see if that information was available in
our database.

Q. Okay. Would you then go ahead and explain what
page 209 represents?

A. This is a chart based on a query of our database,
production database. OCD staff queried the combined OCD
ONGARD database, which reports production and associated
API gravity with that production, what is referred to as a
point of disposition, which, as I understand it, is that
the -- or the custody transfer occurs of the crude oil.

And the data that we got was for 2005.
It represents -- the area under the curve --
excuse me, the API gravity is the X axis, and on -- the

cumulative production in barrels of oil is on the Y axis.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

586

And you can see it ranges from essentially zero to a bit
more than 9 million barrels. This could have been
displayed in a histogram fashion. This is an X-Y curve.
It just plots the API gravity associated with the
cumulative production.

There were some 63,000 records, which exceeds the
capacity to handle in Excel, so I had to take in the data
worksheet by worksheet. And I summarized the production by

every one degree API. In other words, between 10 and 10.9

I summarized the production, and that represents -- is
represented by each dot being -- or each diamond being a
midpoint.

If you look in the area right here, for example,
this is 30, 32, 34. So this is the midpoint between 34 and
35, it's 34.5. This is 35.5.

And what this graph depicts is that the mode --
if this was a histogram, and it's not, correctly speaking,
a histogram -- is approximately 38. This would be 40 and
this is 38. So you can see the peak cumulative production
here or the most frequently API gravity bin is around 38.

The average -- weighted average actually
calculated out for all oil that was reported with an API
gravity in New Mexico in 2005 to be 39.24. I think
particularly noteworthy, you see that most of the

production is associated with gravity between 30 and
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perhaps 50 or so. And it is -- very little production that
is associated with API gravity of less than 30. And
there's relatively a little bit more production -- less
than a million barrels -- that is associated with very high
API gravities of 50 and greater.

I truncated the data at 70, and I did not
truncate any of the data on the log in, but there were very
few reports of less than 10 degrees API.

Q. Applying the data that appear on your chart to
the criteria for remediability that Dr. Sublette has
provided, does that lead you to the opinion that a fairly
large percentage of New Mexico remediations to the 80
percent will, in fact, be achievable?

A. There is a significant proportion that will be
achievable based on that. However, we think that
bioremediation cannot be just linearly related to the API
gravity. It's -- a number of other factors come into play.

Q. Dr. Sublette's chart depicts a linear
relationship, does it not?

A. It does. If I remember correctly, there's --
it's two curves. One is for a particular type of soil, I
believe a clayey soil, and the other is for a loam soil or
a sandy soil.

Q. And while I recognize that bioremediation

endpoint is not your specialty -- perhaps it is Dr.
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Sublette's -- you are aware of quite a number of other
factors that might be involved in determining
bioremediability?

A. My review of landfarming operations shows that
it's a function of a large nuﬁber of factors, soil texture,
the original composition, the temperature, the amount of
sunlight, how frequently it's tilled, the moisture content,
application of fertilizer, bulking materials.

Q. However, you do recognize that the API gravity is
a significant factor?

A. Based on what I read from Dr. Sublette's
exhibits.

Q. And so based on the specific gravities that we're
going to be dealing with, it would appear that they would
not -- that much of the material would be remediable to 80
percent, in your opinion?

A. I think a significant fraction of contaminated

soil will be 40 degrees API or higher.

Q. Okay. Have you finished your presentation, or
are you --
A. The next thing we were going to do is either go

into GH or go through the revisions here.
Q. Okay. Before we deal with the GH, then, have you
prepared for the benefit of the Commission --

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, I was thinking we
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were drawing down, but if this is a good place to break,
why don't we take a 10-minute break and come back at 10:10?

MR. BROOKS: I would suggest we probably have
about 10 or 15 minutes more with this witness, but we'll do
whatever the Commission pleases.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Commissioner Bailey says we
need a break now.

(Laughter)

MR. BROOKS: I'm not averse to it, Mr. Chairman.

(Thereupon, a recess was taken at 9:57 a.m.)

(The following proceedings had at 10:12 a.m.)

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, let's go back on the
record in Cause Number 13,586.

Mr. Brooks, you were finishing up your direct of
Mr. von Gonten.

I do have a question before we start.

Mr. von Gonten, this rebuttal exhibit that you
have marked as page 209 shows cumulative production in 2005
of just 9 million barrels. That's a little short, by about
51 million barrels, isn't it?

THE WITNESS: Chairman Fesmire, that would be
just for that one histogram bar for that one range of API
gravity. In other words, we're just between -- there was 9
million barrels of oil produced in New Mexico that we have

a report of the gravity between 38 and 39 million barrels
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~=- 38 and 39 degrees API.

CHATRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, so I -- That's not
cunmulative?

THE WITNESS: That is cumulative for that range
between, say, 40 and 41, or between 41 and 42. The data --
if you look at the data points represented by the diamonds,
that's the midpoint for a one-degree API range, like
between 15 and 16 or between 30 and 34 -- excuse me,
between 30 and 31.

This is a midpoint plot, and so that would
represent, for example, on the screen, if you look here,
this is the midpoint, I believe, for 36.5, so that's
representative of between 36 and 38, and there was over 7
million barrels associated with that range of API gravity.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, so I'm just reading it
wrong. Together it would sum to the 60 million barrels?

THE WITNESS: That's correct.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, I'm sorry. Mr. Brooks,
you may continue.

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Okay. So in other words, Mr.
von Gonten, the -- each of these diamonds on here
represents a number of barrels that were reported produced
that had a particular API gravity?

A. It is associated with a particular range of API.

Q. And in order to get the total production that was
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reported with API gravities, you would have to add together
the numbers of barrels for each of the diamonds on the
chart?

A. You would have to integrate the curve, and this
curve represented the data for which we had API gravities.
Not all operators always reported the API gravity with its
production. This represents approximately 59 million
barrels. I believe that New Mexico produced closer to 65
million barrels in 2005, so approximately 10 percent of the
data did not have API gravity associated with it in this
database.

Q. And so the mode and weighted average that you
computed up in the upper right-hand portion of the chart,
is that the average API gravity for all of the production
that was reported?

A. Yes.

Q. And what is the point that you're making with
computing those averages?

A. Well, in response to a question that Mr. Hiser
posed to Mr. Price, he asked what number -- what average
API gravity would you have to have to achieve an 80-percent
bioremediation endpoint? And Mr. Price answered that he
didn't know, and I believe Mr. Hiser said it was
approximately 40 degrees API.

Q. And is that consistent -- is that what's
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reflected in Dr. Sublette's exhibits that have been filed,

approximately 40 API?

A. I believe so. 1It's an average, depending on the
soil type.
Q. So the purpose of this chart, then, is to show

that a large percentage of New Mexico crudes would fall

within that range?

A. That's correct.

Q. Thank you. Mr. von Gonten, did you prepare a
redline of subsection H of proposed Rule -- subsections G
and H -- well, I'm sorry, I didn't realize H is on this.

Let's go on and talk about H first, and then we'll -- after
we've talked about everything, we'll go to the changes that
you're now recommending.
Would you -- Let's see, what page are you on
here?
A. This is actually taken from Mr. Price's
testimony, starting on page 61 -- |
Q. Page 61 --
A. -- OCD exhibits.
Q. Okay.
A. And again, the point --
MR. CARR: Just for identification, did you say
these are part of Wayne Price's exhibits?

THE WITNESS: Yes.
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MR. BROOKS: VYes, part of -- behind Tab 8. It
would be very close to the back of Tab 8, if you have an
unnumbered -- one that's not page-numbered.

Give counsel a chance to find the slide before we
proceed.

It's about three pages -- three pages from the
back of the material behind Tab --

MR. CARR: We have it, thank you.

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Okay. Would you then tell us
about subsection H dealing with small landfarms?

A. Well subsection H is a new section in our Rule
53. It was not contained in the original Rule 711.
However, we always had the exemption of 1400 cubic yards or
less that didn't require a permit. This was in response to
industry's comments during the outreach and during their
submittals. They strongly argued that they needed a small
landfarm, or a small landfarm is one of the types of
landfarms that they proposed. And this summarizes what is
contained in subsection H, starting on page 61 and 62 of
Mr. Price's presentation, the overview.

The important points of subsection H are that
operators may treat 1400 cubic yards or less and remain
active for less than three years.

A small landfarm is defined as a centralized

facility and will be registered rather than permitted.
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They must register the small landfarm with OCD, they must
provide proof of landowner -- prior proof of landowner
approval to operate a small landfarm, they may only operate
one active facility per operator per lease, they must meet
the requirements of Rules 53.E. (1) and (2), which I believe
are siting restrictions, they must post a sign specifying
that this is a landfarm and that it has been registered,
and operators may accept only exempt oilfield contaminated
soils, excluding drill cuttings, generated as a result of
accidental releases.

They must generally meet the waste management
standards specified in 53.G, which are the commercial and
centralized landfarms, and there are certain information
requirements in their registration that they must provide.

Generally, OCD has set a lower performance
standard for closure and operations in the small landfarms,
section G -- excuse me, 53.H. Specifically, the closure
requirement is basically to the same numbers for benzene,
TPH and chlorides. However, these small landfarms are not
required to monitor for 3103 constituents.

The closure requirements are very similar. They
must re-vegetate the soils, they must remove any landfarm
soils that can't be remediated to the closure performance
standards, or they may return them to the original site or

recycle and re-vegetate with filled-in native soil. And
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there is a requirement that at closure they must collect
one single vadose zone soil sample from three to five feet
below the middle of the treatment zone.

Q. And other than that, there's no requirement for
vadose zone monitoring for small landfarms, correct?

A. That is correct. There is a final report
requirement that says that the Division, after notice to
the operator and opportunity for a hearing, if requested,
may require additional information or additional
investigation or cleanup activities.

Q. Okay. Now I want to ask you about a few of these
requirements. First of all the 1400 yards, I believe --
1400 cubic yards. I believe Mr. Price explained the
genesis of that requirement in the --

A. That is a --

Q. -- the existing Rule 711.
A. That is a carry-over, and we've always had this
in our guidelines. And the 1400 yards is -- I was not

involved with, but it's my understanding it was based on a
lift calculation that would fit the average pad size in New
Mexico, wellsite pad.

Q. Now we do not have a maximum acreage limitation
proposed for small landfarms, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. But if they're only 1400 cubic yards, they're
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going to be quite small?

A. We would expect them to be. You could, of
course, spread it out much more thinly and cover a larger
area.

Q. Now if the Commission were to decide that a
larger capacity limitation for small landfarms than the
1400 cubic yards is appropriate, would we then want the
Commission to impose an acreage limitation?

A. Yes. We originally started off with the view
that these would be very small, but if industry were to
prevail upon the Commission to increase the total yardage
from 1400 to a larger number, we would want to restrict the
areal extent.

Q. Okay. Now I want to ask you about this provision
that says they will provide proof of landowner approval.
In accordance with our directive to do environmental
justice, one of the things that we have been alerted to
what we're supposed to do as an agency is to allow people
who have a stake in things to weigh in on environmental
issues; is that not correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And one of those people would be surface owners,
regardless of what their property rights might be or might
not be, correct?

A. That's correct.
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Q. We do not have a permitting process for small
landfarms?

A, There's -- this is -- excuse me, outside the
permitting process, this requires that the operator
register it using a form EZ and provide us certain
information that they're not -- we do not have a permit
review process for small landfarms.

Q. And does that mean that OCD will not be reviewing
the environmental suitability of the site for that purpose?

A. That is correct.

Q. Does surface owner approval give us some comfort
that there probably are not serious environmental
objections that we need to take note of?

A. Yes, we assume that the landowner is the person
who is going to be most directly impacted by a small
landfarm, and if they've given their written agreement,
then we assume that they're going to be watching out for
their land and their environment.

Q. If the operator believes that he has the right to
use the land for that purpose without surface approval,
does he still have the right to file for a permit, if he
chooses to go that route, to give OCD an opportunity to
review the environmental objections the surface owner might
have?

A. Yes, if the landowner refused permission, then
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the operator would have the ability to apply for a 53.G
landfarm for a centralized facility.

Q. Now whether or not the operator has a property
right to use the property for that purpose, is that a
concern that the Environmental Bureau of the 0il
Conservation Division would be equipped to address?

A. Sir, repeat the question.

Q. Would the Environmental Bureau of the 0il
Conservation Division be in a position to weigh in on or
address the question of whether or not the operator has a

property right to use that particular property for that

purpose?
A. That's a bit outside of our scope.
Q. Thank you. One active facility per lease, what's

the reason for that requirement?

A. We don't want the o0il and gas industry to end up
with hundreds of thousands of small landfarms. Concerned
Citizens have expressed a particular concern with this
issue, and we think that a certain number of small
landfarms may be appropriate, or they shouldn't be
completely random, and we thought it was a practical matter
to restrict it to one operator per lease at any one time.

Q. Okay, I believe you've explained the rest of
these criteria pretty well, but I wanted to ask you one

thing. Since -- the requirement -- none of the provisions
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of subsection G -- Because of the opening sentence of
subsection H, is it true that none of the provisions of
subsection G will apply to small landfarms?

A. That's generally true. However, there are some
requirements that they provide certain information that's
contained to meet the waste management standards, and that
would be, of course, the operations of the landfarms that
are specified in 53.G, if you look at the second bullet on
this slide.

Q. Right, and that would be -- we're going to
prescribe at a later time which of those requirements are
applicable under subsection H; is that correct?

A. No, that would be just registration. There's not

another opportunity for us to prescribe anything.

Q. Well, we have not made up the form?
A. That is true, that is -- the form has not been
finalized.

Q. Okay. It was back in G that we found that
reference to alternative closure standards that we talked
about, alternative closure standards --

A. Yes.

Q. -- for permitted landfarms? So that particular
provision, then, would not apply to the small landfarms?

A. No, we intend that they should meet the standards

that are specified -- rather limited standards specified in
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H.(5). There's no alternative --

Q. However, they could still -- could they not still
apply for an exception under the exception provisions in
subsection -~ I believe it's K?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Have you told us everything that we need
to know about small landfarms at this point?

A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. Very good. Mr. von Gonten, do you have an
opinion as to whether or not the restrictions that are
placed on -- or the rules that are placed on permitting and
operation of permitted landfarms and small landfarms in
proposed Rule 53 are appropriate for the prevention of
waste and protection of human health and the environment?

A. Yes, we think they are appropriate.

Q. Mr. von Gonten, in the materials behind Tab 11,
which constitutes OCD Exhibit Number 11 -- I'm sorry, your
materials -- yeah, that's right, the materials behind Tab
11, which are marked OCD Exhibit Number 11, were those
materials either prepared by you or collected by you from

sources on which a person in your field would normally rely

to form conclusions --

A. Yes, they were.
Q. -- in your professional work?
A. Yes, they were.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

601

MR. BROOKS: Mr. Chairman, honorable
Commissioners, we offer Exhibit Number 11.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, does that include
the pages 192A, B and C?

MR. BROOKS: Yes, it includes pages 192A, B and C
and page 209. It's my understanding there was no objection
to supplementing the exhibits with those pages.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: That's correct. Mr. Hiser?

MR. HISER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Carr?

MR. CARR: No, sir.

MR. HUFFAKER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Dr. Neeper?

DR. NEEPER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay. OCD Exhibit 11, as

amended, will be admitted into evidence.

MR. BROOKS: Pass the witness -- Oh, I'm sorry,
my witness has pointed out to me -- may I indulge the
Commission to present to you a summary of the changes -- I

believe Mr. von Gonten has gone over them all in his
testimony, but he has prepared a redline of subsections G
and H that summarized the changes to which he's testified.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay. Is there any objection
to the addition of the errata sheets?

MR. HUFFAKER: No objection.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

602

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Hiser?

MR. HISER: Is this the one that was previously
circulated, or is this a new one?

MR. BROOKS: This is a new one, Mr. Hiser.

MR. HISER: Then since we haven't seen it, I
guess we would object.

(Laughter)

MR. BROOKS: Okay, well, Mr. Chairman --

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, if that's the only
objection, what do you say we remedy that pretty quickly?

MR. BROOKS: Exactly. May I approach counsel?

MR. HUFFAKER: Mr. Brooks, may I also have a
copy?

MR. BROOKS: Okay. May I approach the witness to
retrieve the book from the desk?

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: You may, sir.

MR. BROOKS: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Brooks, if I understand
correctly, this sheet that you passed out is simply a
summary of the changes to the original draft that Mr. wvon
Gonten has covered in his testimony; is that correct?

MR. BROOKS: I believe that he has touched on
each of those matters in his testimony.

MR. HISER: Mr. Chairman, to the extent this is

just a summary of what he talked about, we don't have an
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objection to that.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay.

MR. BROOKS: May I approach the Commission?

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Hang on just a second, let's
get everybody on board.

MR. HUFFAKER: CRI has no objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Okay, Dr. Neeber?

DR. NEEPER: No objection.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: OKkay, you may approach the
witness, Mr. Brooks, and us.

(Laughter)

MR. BROOKS: And with that, I pass the witness.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Huffaker?

MR. HUFFAKER: I have no questions of this
witness at this time, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN FESMIRE: Mr. Carr, Mr. Hiser?

MR. HISER: I think that I'll probably start, and

then if I miss anything I'll ask Mr. Carr if he has
questions.
CROSS~EXAMINATION
BY MR. HISER:
Q. Mr. von Gonten, when you were going over your
educational qualifications did you say that you received
training as an engineer?

A, I had a job title as environmental engineer in
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Virginia. 1In fact, my job title here in the OCD is
actually engineer.
Q. Has your principal training been more in the area

of hydrology?

A. I have a bachelor's degree in geology and a
master's degree in geology and have worked with groundwater
contamination for a number of years.

Q. Based on your work experience, what for you do
you define to be as good or sound science?

A. Sound science includes a lot of thing. I think
that the term means that you have to consider a large
number of viewpoints in sound science.

Q. How do you -- Is it merely consideration of a
large number of viewpoints, or how do you sort through a
large number of viewpoints? Because if there are a large
number, then there may be some disagreement on those
viewpoints, would there not?

A. There would be potentially.

Q. Bringing me back to my first question which is,
how do you propose to sort through those to determine what
is the best answer?

A, That's based on our -- as a staff member, I'm
constrained by policy and guidance internal to the Bureau
and to the Division. I use my own professional judgment,

based on my own experience.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

605

Q. So your view, then, of the science is determined
in part by what you perceive as the policy of your Division
and Bureau in terms of the results you're seeking?

A. Sound science is independent of policy, but it is
a consideration when we draft regulations.

Q. And what's your view of the role of anecdotal
evidence in reaching a decision?

A, Anecdotal evidence plays a part; it should not be
relied upon if you have the ability to research the matter
and come to a conclusion.

Q. Now on slide 14 of your presentation -- and I
don't know how easy it will be for you to put the stuff
back and forth on. I've got two where I'm going to cover
slides, and then I thought I would walk through the
proposed Rule sort of in the same order you did, just to
help the Commission understand how --

A, Give me a moment, and let's see what I can do.
Slide 14, is that the one that starts off, landfarm
treatment soil closure performance standards?

Q. Well, if I see it I can tell you if it's the
right one.

A. I'll have to --

Q. Yes, that's the right one.

A. Okay. Just one moment, please, Mr. Hiser.

Q. Certainly.
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. BROOKS: What page number, Mr. von Gonten?

MR

MR. PRICE: 1637?

MR. HISER: Mr. Price says he believes it's 163.

MR. BROOKS: I don't believe that's correct.

MR. HISER: Oh --

THE WITNESS: That's where it starts.

MR. BROOKS: Mr. Brooks says that's not correct.

(Laughter)

THE WITNESS: 1Is it the chart?

MR. HISER: Actually no, my question is about one
of the statements on here =--

THE WITNESS: That seems to be page 186.

MR. HISER: Page 186.

MR. BROOKS: Or 187 -- 186, you're right. Thank
you.

Q. (By Mr. Hiser) Thank you, Mr. von Gonten. On
this slide you explain that the industry committee has
advocated the use of the NMED PSTB Tier 1 concentration and
a factor 10 times that. I was wondering where in any of
the submitted materials from the industry committee, in
terms of rule revisions, that language appears or that
concept appears?

A. That was -- that statement came from Dr. Thomas's

PowerPoint presentation in one of the first outreach.

Q. In one of the first outreach. But is it your
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contention that that's still the position of the industry
committee before the Commission?
A. I don't know. I have not reviewed all the

exhibits submitted by the industry committee in detail.

Q. So you didn't review the most recent exhibits to
be --

A, This slide was prepared before those exhibits
were submitted. So no, I have not -- at the time this

slide was prepared, I had not.

Q. Okay. On slide 21, which should be seven pages
later --

A. This slide?

Q. Oh, you added some new ones. This is the slide
where you speak about all soils -- not all soils and drill
cuttings predominantly contaminated by hydrocarbons are
amenable to bioremediation.

And since I've quoted for you what you stated on
that slide, and I think you've said that twice in your
testimony here, what example -- give me an example -- or
what you're discussing as -- in being an example of a soil
or drill cutting predominantly contaminated by petroleum
hydrocarbons that would not be bioremediable.

A. Well, if it was contaminated by very long-chain
hydrocarbons, it may not be amenable to bioremediation.

Q. And so -~
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l 1 A. An example would be a very weathered crude.
2 Q. So a weathered crude or perhaps asphaltics --
l 3 A. Correct.
I 4 Q. -- and all that? If that's the concern, why did
5 you choose not to write your rule to address that
l 6 particular concern?
l 7 A. The rule has to be practical and enforceable, and
8 we cannot consider every possible exemption or possibility
l 9 when making a rule.
l 10 Q. And so in this case you decided that the degree
11 of over-inclusivity or under-inclusivity was acceptable to
II 12 you, as --
13 A. I'm not quite sure I understand what you mean by
I 14 that.
m 15 Q. In other words, that even though the issue is
16 primarily the weathered crudes or the asphaltics, that you
“ 17 decided that, for example, your 80-percent test adequately
W 18 addressed that?
19 A. I'm still not quite sure what your question is,
“ 20 but if I may take a stab at it, in addition to weathered
nl 21 asphaltics, we may have some spill that may have additional
22 contaminants in the soil, and there is a possibility these
m 23 contaminants could be toxic to the microbes.
u' 24 So you might by screening that soil load
25 determine that it was predominantly contaminated by
|
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hydrocarbons, but because you're not required to do an
extensive waste characterization of every load, you might
be poisoning your landfarm cell by a particular load.

Q. So your concern in that case, then, is other
contaminants that may be present or along for the ride, so
to speak?

A. Yes. It includes that, it's not restricted to
that.

Q. Okay. One last sort of general question before
we turn to the Rule provision. 1In your opinion, are the
Lea County landfills properly operated landfarms? Excuse
me, the Lea County landfarms properly operated landfarms?

A. They're properly operated for New Mexico in that
the restriction here in New Mexico is that you have very
little water rights. You have a lot of land and a lot of
sunlight and a long amount of time. So as a practical
application for commercial landfarms, I think that they
are. We have not in detail inspected these landfarms to
know on a day-to-day basis whether they're meeting all
their requirements, because of staff limitations, among
other things.

Q. Okay. Let's turn, then -- actually look at the
text of the Rule the staff is proposing to the Commission
for adoption, and let's start with G. (1), which is your

waste acceptance criteria.
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Now as I look at the proposed Rule language, you
state that you're proposing to limit material that could be
accepted by a landfarm to hydrocarbon-contaminated soils
and drill cuttings; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now throughout your discussion you talked about
this large myriad of oilfield wastes that are going to make
their way into the landfarm. And for example, you list a
number of field service companies, various petroleum
refinery wastes and all that. How exactly are those going
to arrive in the hydrocarbon-contaminated soils and drill
cuttings?

A. Well, spills are accidental releases, and we know
that at one site you may have a mixture of, say, crude oil
spill. It could be mixed with produced water. It could
also be a combination. You may also be dealing with
remediation of a historic site, which some things were
dumped in one particular area without the -- more
mismanaged rather than spilled or released accidentally.

Q. But in any of those situations, is it not true
that the other oilfield wastes would be diluted to some

extent, perhaps a great extent?

A. Perhaps to a great extent. Not necessarily, but
perhaps.
Q. And that would have a tendency, then, to reduce

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

611
the concentration that one might expect to find?
A. of what?
Q. Of the other petroleum -- the other oilfield
wastes?
A. Yes.
Q. You also proposed a limitation on hydrocarbons

that enter the landfarm to less than 50,000 milligrams per
kilogram.

A. For the G.(8) landfarms, the environmentally
acceptable bioremediation landfarms.

Q. And that's an amendment to the proposal that the
staff is proposing now?

A. If you look through G. (1) through G.(7), there is
no requirement for the commercial and centralized landfarms
to restrict their loading to less than 50,000. That
restriction is found only in G. (8).

Q. And what's the -- assuming that that's limited,
then, to G.(8), what's the basis for that limitation?

A. G.(8) is a -- as Mr. Price referred to, cutting-
edge technology with which we have very limited or no
experience whatsoever. So we are looking to make sure that
we put appropriate constraints on that.

The 50,000 parts per million was recommended by
EPA's guidance document entitled How to Evaluate

Alternative Cleanup Technologies for Underground Storage
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Tank Sites, a Guide for Corrective Action Plan Reviewers.
Q. And do you know if that's still, in fact, EPA's
position?

A. This document is dated 2004, so I'm assuming that

Q. So that's your basis, though, is this EPA
document?

A. That was confirmed by several other sources.

Q. Would you like to identify those?

A. Well, the Army Corps of Engineers guidance, and
I'm not sure about the date of that. It was a guidance
document prepared for contractors in bidding for landfarm
operations.

Q. And what's the basis that's used by the EPA and
the Army Corps document for proposing the 50,000 limit?

A. One moment, Mr. Hiser.

The number 50,000 which was proposed by EPA
appears to be based on the fact that higher concentrations
than that may actually be toxic to the initial microbes
because of the high proportion of the aromatics.

Q. Is that a concern that the landfarm won't work or
that the landfarm would take longer to achieve its
objective?

A. I think that it would not be effective

landfarming operations, that you should, have an optimal
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range on the total petroleum hydrocarbon loading, and that
range has generally, in several sources, been 50,000 or

less. I assumed numbers as high as 100,000, but that seems
to be the upper-case limit for a landfarm, not for this --

Q. But you're aware of scientific literature,
anyway, showing greater than 50,0007

A, I've -- for landfarm operations, yes.

Q. Now in the guidance document is that not, in
fact, an underground storage tank document?

A. It is guidance for the underground storage tank
corrective action reviewers, but it is specific to chapter
5, entitled Landfarming.

Q. Right, but if it's looking at underground storage
tanks, what type of product spill would you think would be
most commonly being evaluated?

A, Mostly gasoline and diesel and jet fuels.

Q. Okay. And would those have different
characteristics than crude 0il?

A. Yes.

Q. You also proposed a limitation on chloride of
less than 1000 milligrams per kilogram, and did you have
any basis for proposing on that limit, or are you relying
on the work done by Mr. Price?

A. We relied on Mr. Price's research.

Q. And then did you rely on any other peer-reviewed
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technical materials in determining to reject Dr. Sublette's
prior information that greater than 50,000 milligrams per
kilogram could be treated, or are you simply relying on
this EPA publication?

A. As I said, there were several that we would refer
to as authoritative sources where EPA put these things out
for not only internal and external peer review but for
public comment. EPA, the Army Corps of Engineers -- at
least two EPA documents were reviewed. This one is for the
tank program that I've referred to. There's also guidance
documents that EPA has put out for land treatment units
under RCRA subtitle C. Guidance documents, not
regulations.

Q. For RCRA subtitle C or hazardous waste
facilities?

A. Yes, for land-treatment units -- that would be
the same thing as landfarms -- permitted under RCRA.

Q. I want to go back to the 50,000-milligram-per-
kilogram-of-hydrocarbon-contamination-for~the-soil limit
for a minute, and you say you're concerned that the
bioremediation endpoint may not be able to achieve this
level of reduction -- I believe that's what you testified
—- so therefore you propose this as a limit for G. (8)
facilities?

A. Well, the 50,000 is specifically based on our
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review of guidance documents that says that to properly
operate a landfarm you should restrict the hydrocarbon
loading to no more than -- generally, than 50,000.

Q. If that's true, Mr. von Gonten, I'm troubled by
why you apply that only to the bioremediation endpoint
landfarms and not to all landfarms.

A, Landfarms, as we have -- our experience is that
landfarms do not accept soils that we refer to as being
that hot. During my inspection and sampling of the -- or
the sampling events, I asked them about 50,000 parts per
million, and everyone that I asked anecdotally told me that
they didn't think they were having anything that high to
begin with.

Q. And so this, then, is sort of based on anecdotal
interviewing of the various Lea County landfarms that you
went and spoke with?

A. The 50,000 number came from EPA.

Q. I understand that, but the --

A. But the --

Q. -- decision not to include it for the existing,
what you call dryland landfarms, was based on your
anecdotal --

A. It has not been -- waste -- detailed waste
characterization has not been part of Rule 711, was not

brought into our proposed Rule 53.G through -- G. (1)
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through G. (7). We haven't felt that it has been necessary.

Q. So the staff's position is that for a dryland
landfarm, that it's not necessary, but for a bioremediation
endpoint where we're adding water, nutrients and a number
of other steps, that it is necessary?

A. We're putting more sideboards on the G. (8)
landfarms because we have no experience with themn.

Q. All right. Now I believe that you answered in
response to a question from Mr. Brooks that you're not
imposing the 1000-milligram-per-kilogram chloride limit as
the basis of any concern about the impact on the
bioremediation at the landfarm itself, but rather it's a
groundwater or freshwater concern?

A. Yes, and it's consistent with the other surface
waste management facility requirements.

Q. And then you also agreed that there -- Well,
we'll cover that later.

Let's move on to the G.(2), then, which is, I
believe, your background testing.

A. Yes.

Q. Now I believe you said this before, but just for
clarity's sake, are all the 3103 constituents a natural
part of crude petroleum or its derivatives?

A. No.

Q. And so why are we testing for a number of these
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additional constituents?

A. Because those other constituents in 3103 are
found commonly in what we would consider cilfield waste
derived from other than crude oil spills.

Q. And so is it the Division's perspective that if a

constituent could possibly be found, therefore it must be
tested?

A. No. There were a large number of other
constituents that might be constituents of concern. If you
look at the EPA studies or the total petroleum hydrocarbon
criteria working group, there are many more constituents
that are found in crude oil than we listed in 3103.

Q. But you showed us that where there was any detect
in any of these studies that you looked at and that detect
was for a compound that also appeared on the 3103 list, you
would go ahead and include that?

A. We included all of 3103, with the exceptions of
TDS and pH, except for section C.

Q. Turning then to the operations provision, which
is your -- I believe your G.(3), what's the purpose of the
24-hour removal of water from the landfarm? I think you
said that that was to remove the driving head?

A. Yes.

Q. What would be the difference from the landfarnm,

from the ecological perspective, between 24 hours and 72
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hours?

A. Well, we think there's a much greater likelihood
that in 72 hours the water will have percolated through the
treatment zone and leached out some constituents and
perhaps driven them into the vadose zone.

Q. Okay, so you're concerned about materials going
into the vadose zone?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the Division give any consideration to the
fact that you've now required seven-day-a-week manning of
the landfarm operation, as opposed to what may have been a
five-day-a-week operation beforehand?

A. No, I don't believe we discussed that.

Q. Is it your intent to require daily manning of
landfarms?
A, We believe that a landfarm operator will know

when it rains in a county that has as sparse rainfall as
we're dealing with in Lea and Eddy County, and they would
be required, if they noticed there was a heavy rainfall, to
go out and see if there was any ponding.

Q. So that translates as yes?

A. They don't have to have a man on site, no.

Q. Would they have to have someone on call?

A. Yes, they're responsible for the security and

operations of the facility 24/7.
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Q. And did you conduct any evaluation to see the
difference and extent of leaching that may occur between a
24-hour and a 72-hour ponding event?

A. No, we did not.

Q. On treatment zone monitoring, which I think is
your G.(4), can you clarify whether the eight-inch 1lift
requirement applies to biopiles or landfarms?

A. This is for landfarms. A biopile would be
constructed quite differently.

Q. And so even though sometimes landfarms and
biopiles are sort of treated synonymously, this is not one
of those cases?

A. Correct.

Q. What peer-reviewed information did you rely upon
to reject the industry committee's recommendation to the
staff of a 12-inch lift for condensate-only-contaminated
soils?

A. I don't remember the 12-inch proposal. When was
that submitted?

Q. It was in one of the outreach meetings.

A. I frankly don't remember that.

Q. So you didn't take any position on that, or --
A. We didn't -- I don't remember any discussion
whatsoever. A 12-inch lift, however -- we're relying on

practicality. We started off with a six-inch 1lift, which
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basically equates to a -- the term is a 12-inch harrow. So
if you're looking for a 12-inch you're going to have to
have much larger farm implements to get a 12-inch. It
would be 24 inches on the harrow size.

Q. Well, I mean, do you have an opinion -- do you

personally have an opinion as to the appropriateness of a
12-inch 1lift for condensate?

A. No.

Q. No as in you don't have an opinion, or no as in
you don't believe that's appropriate?

A. No, I do not have an opinion.

Q. Okay, that is fair. And can you explain to us
what the purpose is of the proposed 2500-milligram-per-
kilogram requirement prior to adding a new 1ift? This
would be --

A. Yes, I believe the old 711 rule required that
they actually remediate the soils down to 100 parts per
million before adding a new lift. We thought that was
unduly restrictive on landfarm operations because we
recognize that initially the TPH concentration is going to
experience a rapid decrease and then will tail off until --
it eventually becomes very minimal with time.

And we thought that there would still be the
opportunity for the landfarm operator to take another lift

and yet still experience bioremediation in the lower 1lift,
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and we thought that 2500 was appropriate based on a review
of NMED soil screening levels guidance of 2005 where the
waste o0il concentration for a residential scenario matched
our mental image or our best guess on what we were dealing
with as far as contaminated soils. The soils had been
there for a couple of years and then weathered.

Q. Well, Mr. von Gonten, I guess I'm curious then.
If the concern is the proper operation of the landfarm,
what relevance does the NMED SSL residential level have to
that?

A, It's a soil screening number for hydrocarbon-
contaminated soil that we thought was appropriate for a
landfarm scenario.

Q. I guess I'm still curious about that, because
typically if one meets the NMED residential SSL, that means
that I'm prepared to have a house and have my kid play on
the land that's there --

A. That's correct.

Q. -- whereas this is an active landfarm facility.
And so wouldn't a more relevant criteria be something
having to do with whether you've achieved an appropriate
level to facilitate moving to the next step of the
landfarm?

A, We thought it was a practical number for taking

the next -- accepting the next lift. We thought that there
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should -- you shouldn't choke the landfarm with lift after
lift before a significant bioremediation had occurred. We
looked for a practical number that would allow the
operators the ability to continue their operations, but at
a reasonable pace.

Q. So the fact that this is spuriously identical to
the NMED number really doesn't have anything to do with
what you were trying to accomplish?

A. No, Mr. Hiser, we looked at a number that we
thought -- got it down to a number that was potentially
risk based, and at that point we thought that it would be
appropriate for the landfarm operator to add an additional
lift.

Q. I see. One other, I guess, clarification point
on G.(4). The two-foot thickness, is that applicable to
biopiles, or is this once again only applicable to a
landfarm?

A. It is for landfarms only.

Q. Okay. In the vadose zone monitoring, which we're
now to G.(5), Commissioners, what was the basis that OCD
used for three to four foot below the treatment zone as the
location for the vadose zone monitoring?

A, Practicality. Our main concern here was that
you're dealing with farm implements. If we could have set

it at six inches and be practical and reasonable, we would
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have done so, because it should be a detection of a -- an
immediate detection of a release.

Q. So your goals with this program is to immediately

protect anything leaching from the landfarm zone into the
soils below that?

A. Right, from the treatment zone to the vadose
zone. And three to four feet was something that was
appropriate, easily achievable and yet protective.

Q. And how are you proposing to determine an
exceedence in the vadose zone monitoring?

A. It will be a comparison to background
concentrations that they're required to establish in G. (2),
I believe.

Q. Which is a good answer, but it begs lots of the
details. How does one determine the background
concentration?

A. Statistical comparison.

Q. A statistical comparison. Are we comparing that
on a sample-by-sample basis, or are you proposing to look
at means between sampling --

A. It would be most appropriate to use means. We've
established a mean background concentration, and you're
required to sample each cell -- or you're required to
sample four independent samples.

Q. Now is that for both the initial background
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sampling and then the subsequent vadose zone monitoring?
Would both be done a mean basis, or only the background

sampling done on a mean basis?

A. It should be for the vadose zone as well as
background.
Q. What do you personally believe, based on your

experience here in New Mexico, will be the background for
BTEX, using the total extractable method, 418.17?

A. I would anticipate it's very low unless you've
sited your landfarm on a previously contaminated site.

Q. And are you familiar with the fact that organic

matter may give BTEX readings?

A. Yes.
Q. Excuse me, also, I mean, TPH.
A. (Nods)

Q. Okay. Now are you familiar with Dr. Sublette's
information that's been presented to the Division staff on
the proper operation of landfarms?

A. Yes, somewhat.

Q. And do you agree that in general what he's been

proposing represents good or reasonable landfarming

practice?
A. Yes, many of his proposals are good practice.
Q. Doesn't those proposals require the addition of

moisture for proper operation of --
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A. Yes, the optimal landfarm operations, you would
need to add moisture.
Q. Do you recall the approximate amount of moisture

that Dr. Sublette recommended for optimal operation of a
landfarm?

A. No, I don't remember that number.

Q. And if I were to tell you that it was between 60-
to 80-percent field capacity, would that reflect your
recollection?

A. That is what I've seen from not only Dr. Sublette
but from other sources as well.

Q. Now as a hydrologist or a geologist, if we're
keeping the landfarm soil moisture at that 60 to 80 percent
of field capacity, would you expect that BTEX and chloride
would migrate down into the vadose zone in the landfarm
cell?

A. No, it shouldn't.

Q. And why would that be?

A. Well, the content there hasn't reached
saturation, and so there will be some migration in the gas
phase, but the actual leachate should not move.

Q. Would the gas phase show up in sampling of the
vadose zone?

A. I would have to research that, I'm not sure.

Q. And what would be the impact of a storm event,
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perhaps one resulting in up to 24 hours of ponding on a
landfarm that had been kept at 60- to 80-percent field
capacity prior to that time?

A. Well, the area that would be ponded would quickly
go to -- I would anticipate would quickly go to saturation
in the area that is ponded.

Q. And would you expect to then find constituents
from the landfarm in the vadose zone below that area?

A. You certainly would have the potential to do so
under that scenario.

Q. And at that point would that not then trigger
corrective action for the landfarm?

A. It might.

Q. It might?

A. If you have four samples and you establish the
mean for that semi-annual event, and you took one of those
samples in the area that is ponded but the other three
samples were not, you may hot statistically trigger.

Q. Okay, but if you did statistically trigger, then
you would trigger corrective action?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you undertaken any investigation into
whether landfarms that are being properly managed as the
Division staff has proposed can consistently meet the

standard without triggering corrective action?
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A. No.

Q. Let's go to G.(6). This is the treatment zone
closure standards. I believe that the basis for these
standards is basically set forth in slide 12; is that
correct? I think =-- That's the one with the 3103
constituents in the left and then --

A. Yes.

Q. -- NMED and EPA --

A. Yes, the Excel spreadsheet.

Q. Yeah, you might want to put that slide back up so
that we all have it to refer to.

MR. BROOKS: Page 174, I believe.
THE WITNESS: This one?

MR. HISER: No.

THE WITNESS: This one.

MR. HISER: Yes, that one.

MR. BROOKS: Okay, that's page 177.
MR. HISER: Thank you, Mr. Brooks.

Q. (By Mr. Hiser) Now did I hear you correctly in
your testimony, that you said that your basis for choosing
which of these standards applied was, you chose the most
protective one?

A. Yes.

Q. So you didn't undertake any other evaluation,

other than choosing which of the different numbers for the
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constituents would be the lowest?

A, That's correct.

Q. What was the basis that was used by the OCD staff
in rejecting the industry committee recommendation where we
recommended a tiered approach using residential SSLs or the
DAF -- in favor of this DAF 1?

A. Well, our goal was to determine a release, a
release that's actionable under regulations as defined.
We're not interested in a risk based scenario because it
ignores that you would potentially allow a release at some
distance from the bottom of the treatment zone, which is
something we're trying to avoid.

Q. Now is this -- okay, we're talking --

A. If I may continue to answer that question, sir?
If I may continue to answer the question.

Q. Go ahead.

A. This is for waste management, this is not a spill
remediation program.

Q. I understand that. My question, though, is that

these are closure standards, is it not?

A. These are closure standards, yes.

Q. Okay. And so your position, then, basically is
that you want these soils that are being treated to meet
these -- the most stringent standard that you were able to

find for background?
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A. Correct.

Q. Correct? And then you also want to have nothing
in the soils beneath it, period?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. Are you aware of any other agency that has
taken that position for closure?

A. Closure standards, for example, in RCRA, which
I'm fairly familiar, establish that there is a risk based
concentration of soils that is allowable if there's been a
minimal leak, for example, beneath a surface impoundment.

Q. Okay, thank you. Now you state in slide 15,
which may be the one right before this, or it might be the
one right after, somewhere in that area.

A. This one or this one?

Q. This would be in your PowerPoint presentation.
And I think it's the -- Is that 14? There you go. Yes,
it's this one. Now you state there in your answer that OCD
rejects industry's concept of large landfarms up to 500
acres in size that handle large volumes of poorly
characterized oil-contaminated waste.

In fact, aren't we only handling large quantities

of contaminated soils and drill cuttings?

A, Yes, that's oilfield waste, that would be
appropriate --

Q. That is a subset of oilfield waste, is it not?
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A. That is correct.

Q. Now in this same situation, I mean, didn't Mr.
Price earlier indicate that there is no reason for the OCD
staff to review C-138s because you believe the industry had

an adequate handle on the characterization of the waste

issues?

A. I'm going to have to punt on that one. I don't
remember -- I'm not familiar with C-138s.

Q. Okay. And so you neither agree nor disagree with

Mr. Price, since you don't recall his statement?

A. I don't agree or disagree with him.

Q. If the Division believes that the industry is
dealing with poorly characterized waste, would it not seem
unusual, then, that you would be dropping the requirement
for Division staff to review a C-138?

A. If I were familiar with the C-138 I could answer
that question, but I'm not.

Q. You're just not familiar with the C-138 at all?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay, we'll move on then. What's the scientific
basis for your proposed 500-milligram-per-kilogram-TPH-
GRO+DRO standard?

A. Our basis for it is that we realized when we were
rewriting 711 into the new Rule 53 that the 100 TPH was

probably too low, that that was very protective, and that
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if you do detailed analysis you may get a TPH of 100, and
if you analyze it for other constituents, 8260
constituents, organic solvents, other organic compounds,
you're not going to find anything.

And so we realized that it was practical to use
TPH in a landfarm setting, because we're dealing with crude
0il and a number of other constituents, but primarily
hydrocarbons, and TPH is a very effective test method for
that.

Going to 500, we wanted to pump it up a little
bit. We thought that GRO+DRO actually would be much less
than 500 most of the time, based on our experience.

Q. Well, if DRO+GRO is an adequate measure, why do
you want to keep the total petroleum measurement as well --

A. Because --

Q. -- and doesn't it seem redundant?

A. -- 8015, which is what we're talking -- GRO+DRO,
as determined by 8015-B modified, gets the short-chain
hydrocarbons but does not adequately test the -- excuse ne,
the long-chain hydrocarbons that are captured by 418.1.

Q. And so I guess I come back to the question, is,
why is it necessary to use both the DRO+GRO and then the
long-chain hydrocarbon test, which is the total extractable
or whatever --

A. Because one test does not get you the full
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spectrum of hydrocarbons.
Q. You're saying that the total extractable is not

capturing the short chains?

A. That's correct.
Q. It's just going for the long chains?
A. I don't know at what carbon count it starts

kicking in, but there is some overlap between 8015 and 418
as far as the constituents that they detect and report, but
418.1 does not get the shorter-chain hydrocarbons.
Q. Give me just a second here.
All right, I want to turn and talk about the 3103
constituents for just a second.
A. Do you want the Excel sheet back up?

Q. I don't know that that's really necessary, thank

you.
Are the constituents on that list hazardous or
toxic?
A. Depending on the concentration, yes.
Q. So it's a concentration question.

What about iron and manganese?
A. Excuse me, they may be listed as hazardous
constituents by EPA.
Q. Okay. Let me then ask about iron and manganese.
Are those on the 3103 list?

A. Yes.

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR
(505) 989-9317




ﬁm-%ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁnﬂﬂ-nﬂ--

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

633
Q. And are they hazardous or toxic?
A. Everything can be toxic.
Q. If I were to be fully encased in iron, I would

agree with you that would be toxic. But in the
concentrations that you would expect to find in oilfield
waste, would you expect it to be hazardous or toxic?

A. I really haven't studied oilfield wastes to know
what the concentrations in iron and manganese are. So I
don't have an opinion as to whether oilfield waste would be
toxic for iron and manganese.

Q. Okay. Now do you know why the Water Quality
Control Commission included iron and manganese in their
standards?

A. No.

Q. So you're just taking the standards and applying
them over into this program?

A. Yes.

Q. And then if iron or manganese were to be present
at levels above background or the treatment zone closure
list that you have proposed, is it your anticipation that
OCD would prevent closure of that landfarm?

A. Until we actually experience that, I don't know
how to answef it, but I think that's the way the
regulations read.

Q. And so it would then be your intent that the
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members of this Commission would have to hear an exemption
appeal on that?

A, Yes, on a case-by-case basis, I believe so.

Q. So that the safety valve, if you would, on the
staff's proposal is more hearings by the Commission on
individual exemptions?

A. I'm not sure what you mean by safety valve.

Q. In other words, the safety valve where you have a
closure where the choice is to dig up an entire landfarm
because there may be slightly elevated iron concentrations.
And that may or may not make much sense. The safety valve
for that is for the landfarm operator to come to the
Commission and request a public hearing on an exemption?

A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. And then you chose to use the DAF 1 factors
rather than the residential soils for ongoing closure, just
because the DAF 1's were more stringent; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Do you have any sense of how much more stringent
that would make the OCD-proposed cleanup levels than, say,
the NMED residential levels for --

A. That chart specifies that information. We can
review it, but as a ballpark figure, no, it depends on the
constituent.

Q. Let's talk a little bit about the DAF 1 values.
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Now do you agree that the DAF SSLs are based on the
assumption of an infinite source?

A. I believe that's correct.

Q. Okay. Do you anticipate there would be an
infinite source in any landfarm?

A. Up to 500 acres, I believe, for modeling purposes
would be considered an infinite --

Q. An infinite source is a source that continues on
ad infinitum at a constant level of concentration.

A. Well, then that probably wouldn't be correct for
the modeling purposes.

Q. Would that be appropriate for a small landfarm or
a registered landfarm?

A. Rephrase the question, please?

Q. Yes, can you tell me whether the assumption of an
infinite source is appropriate for a small landfarm?

A. Probably not.

Q. Do you know if the DAF SSLs are based on an
assumption that the contamination is uniformly spread from
the land surface to the water interface?

A. I don't know the detail to that, I don't know the
answer to that question.

Q. Would you be surprised to know that that was, in

fact, the case?

A. No.
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Q. Is that the situation with landfarms, as the
Division has proposed their Rules?
A. No.
Q. Does the -- Do you know if the DAF assumes any

attenuation in the vadose zone?

A, My understanding from NMED's guidance, is that
the DAF only considers attenuation in the aquifer.

Q. In the aquifer.

A. Not in the vadose 2zone.

Q. And would that be an appropriate assumption for
hydrocarbons in the vadose zone and those land surface?

A. No.

Q. So that would make the DAF SSL 1 very

conservative?
A. If you were looking at a small site, yes.
Q. Even for a large site, would that be
conservative?

A. No, depending on the site characteristics, it may
not be conservative -- well, it would be conservative
enough, but you have to deal with macroporosity such as
fractures and --

Q. So your testimony, then, is that there are times
when you can have a DAF SSL of less than 17

A. No.

Q. Well then in what way, if there is hydrocarbon
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attenuation in the vadose zone, would DAF 1 not be overly
conservative?

A. Well, you're having a release, so it would never
be conservative to say that you can't have a release from
the treatment zone to the vadose zone.

Q. I'm asking you about the DAF, I'm not asking you
about the appropriateness of the release.

A. Okay, rephrase your question, please.

Q. The question is, does the DAF 1 -- is that over-
conservative for organic constituents like hydrocarbons

that would tend to degrade in the vadose zone?

A. Protect -- Overly conservative for what scenario?
Q. Protection of groundwater.
A. It probably would be overly conservative for

protection of groundwater alone.

Q. Is it not true that the Division in this case
changed EPA's 12-meter agquifer thickness to 10 meters in
concentrating and calculating your chloride values? Or is
that a question I should have asked Mr. Price?

A, It is a question that you should have addressed
to Mr. Price.

Q. Fair enough.

(Laughter)
Q. Is it not true that EPA, when it put together the

concept of the DAFs, determined that a DAF of approximately
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170 is protective of 90 percent of sites at a 0.5-acre
size?

A. At a very small size, yes, that's what they
proposed --

Q. And --

A. -- based on my understanding of that rather large
document.

Q. Is it not true that NMED advises the use of a DAF
of 20 for most purposes?

A. For most purposes, except areas of shallow
groundwater or karst.

Q. And is it not true that Mr. Price advocated
effectively the use of a DAF of 15 in his chloride
calc